
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DATED 9 JUNE 2014     

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD
(Established under the Housing and Development Act, Chapter 129 of Singapore)

S$32,000,000,000

Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”)

This Information Memorandum has not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this Information 
Memorandum and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of notes (the “Notes”) to be 
issued from time to time by Housing and Development Board (the “Issuer”) pursuant to the Programme may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the 
Notes be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than 
(i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the “SFA”), (ii) to a relevant person pursuant 
to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specifi ed in Section 275, of the SFA or (iii) otherwise 
pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.  

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defi ned in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments 
and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each benefi ciary of the trust is an 
individual who is an accredited investor, 

securities (as defi ned in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the benefi ciaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not 
be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except: 

(1) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defi ned in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 
275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;

(2) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(3) where the transfer is by operation of law; 

(4) as specifi ed in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

(5) as specifi ed in Regulation 32 of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Shares and Debentures) Regulations 2005 of Singapore.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act (as defi ned herein), and may not be offered or sold in the United States (“U.S.”) 
or to, or for the account or benefi t of, U.S. persons (as defi ned in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except in accordance with Regulation S under the 
Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Notes are subject to certain U.S. securities and tax 
law requirements. See “Subscription, Purchase and Distribution”.

Application has been made to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) for permission to deal in and the quotation for any Notes 
which are agreed at the time of issue thereof to be so listed on the SGX-ST. Such permission will be granted when such Notes have been admitted to the 
Offi cial List of the SGX-ST. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports 
contained herein. Admission to the Offi cial List of the SGX-ST and quotation of any Notes on the SGX-ST is not to be taken as an indication of the merits 
of the Issuer, its subsidiaries or such Notes.

Arranger
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NOTICE

The establishment of the Programme has been authorised by HDB pursuant to the approval of 
its Board dated 15 December 1998.

Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited (“Citi”) has been authorised by HDB to arrange 
the Programme described herein. Under the Programme, HDB may, subject to compliance 
with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, from time to time issue Notes denominated in 
Singapore dollars and/or any other currencies. HDB is no longer gazetted as a public authority 
for the purposes of the Companies Act and is subject to the provisions of the SFA.

HDB has made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain that the information in this Information 
Memorandum relating to HDB and its subsidiaries is true and accurate in all material respects. 
The opinions, expectations and intentions of HDB expressed herein have been carefully 
considered and there are no other facts the omission of which would make any such information 
or expression of opinion, expectation or intention misleading in any material respect.

Notes may be issued in Series having one or more issue dates and the same maturity date, 
and on identical terms (including as to listing) except (in the case of Notes other than variable 
rate notes) for the issue dates, issue prices and/or the dates of the fi rst payment of interest, 
or (in the case of variable rate notes) for the issue prices and rates of interest. Each Series 
may be issued in one or more Tranches on the same or different issue dates. The Notes may 
be issued in bearer or registered form and may be listed on a stock exchange. Subject to 
compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, the Notes may have maturities of 
not less than 12 months nor more than 25 years from their respective issue dates and may be 
subject to redemption or purchase in whole or in part. The Notes may bear interest at a fi xed, 
fl oating or variable rate and may be repayable at par, at a specifi ed amount above or below 
par or at an amount determined by reference to a formula, in each case with terms as specifi ed 
in the applicable pricing supplement issued in relation to each Series or Tranche of Notes. 
Details applicable to each Series or Tranche of Notes will be specifi ed in the applicable pricing 
supplement which is to be read in conjunction with this Information Memorandum.

The maximum aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be issued, when added to the 
aggregate principal amount of all Notes outstanding (as defi ned in the Agency Agreement 
referred to below) shall not exceed S$32,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other 
currencies) or such further amount as may be approved by the Board and the Minister for 
National Development. On 1 February 2002, the maximum aggregate principal amount of all 
Notes which may be issued from time to time pursuant to the Programme and which remain 
outstanding was increased from S$3,000,000,000 to S$7,000,000,000 and the range of the 
maturities of Notes which may be issued pursuant to the Programme was increased from 12 
months to ten years to 12 months to 25 years from their respective issue dates. On 17 June 
2011, the maximum aggregate principal amount of all Notes which may be issued from time 
to time pursuant to the Programme and which remain outstanding was further increased from 
S$7,000,000,000 to S$12,000,000,000. On 17 May 2012, the maximum aggregate principal 
amount of all Notes which may be issued from time to time pursuant to the Programme and 
which remain outstanding was further increased from S$12,000,000,000 to S$22,000,000,000. 
On 9 June 2014, the maximum aggregate principal amount of all Notes which may be issued 
from time to time pursuant to the Programme and which remain outstanding was again further 
increased from S$22,000,000,000 to S$32,000,000,000.

The information contained in this Information Memorandum should be read in conjunction 
with HDB’s annual reports and/or published fi nancial statements which are incorporated by 
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reference. Citi has not verifi ed the correctness or completeness of HDB’s annual reports or 
published fi nancial statements.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other 
than those contained in this Information Memorandum and, if given or made, such information 
or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by HDB, Citi or any of 
the Dealers (as defi ned herein). Save as expressly stated in this Information Memorandum, 
nothing contained herein is, or may be relied upon as, a promise or representation as to 
the future performance or policies of HDB or any of its subsidiaries. Neither this Information 
Memorandum nor any other document or information (or any part thereof) delivered or supplied 
under or in relation to the Programme may be used for the purpose of, and does not constitute 
an offer of, or solicitation or invitation by or on behalf of HDB, Citi or any of the Dealers to 
subscribe for or purchase, the Notes in any jurisdiction or under any circumstances in which 
such offer, solicitation or invitation is unlawful, or not authorised or to any person to whom 
it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or invitation. The distribution and publication of 
this Information Memorandum or any such other document or information and the offer of 
the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons who distribute or publish 
this Information Memorandum or any such other document or information or into whose 
possession this Information Memorandum or any such other document or information comes 
are required to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions and all applicable 
laws, orders, rules and regulations. Where any material changes occur, HDB may make an 
announcement of the same to the SGX-ST or by publication of the same in a leading English 
language newspaper having general circulation in Singapore or by a press release of the same. 
All recipients of this Information Memorandum should take note of any such announcement 
and, upon release of such an announcement by HDB to the SGX-ST or publication of the 
same in such leading English language newspaper or by a press release of the same, shall be 
deemed to have notice of such material changes.

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act (as defi ned 
herein) or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or jurisdiction of the United States 
and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and restrictions. Subject to certain exceptions, 
the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the U.S. or to U.S. persons (as defi ned 
in Regulation S under the Securities Act).

This Information Memorandum and any other documents or materials in relation to the issue, 
offering or sale of the Notes have been prepared solely for the purpose of the initial sale by 
the relevant Dealers of the Notes from time to time to be issued pursuant to the Programme. 
This Information Memorandum and such other documents or materials are made available 
to the recipients thereof solely on the basis that they are persons falling within the ambit of 
Section 274 and/or Section 275 of the SFA and may not be relied upon by any person other 
than persons to whom the Notes are sold or with whom they are placed by the relevant Dealers 
as aforesaid or for any other purpose. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, recipients 
of this Information Memorandum shall not reissue, circulate or distribute this Information 
Memorandum or any part thereof in any manner whatsoever.

Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum (or any part thereof) or the issue, offering, 
purchase or sale of the Notes shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation, 
or give rise to any implication, that there has been no change in the prospects, results of 
operations or general affairs of HDB or any of its subsidiaries or in the information herein since 
the date hereof or the date on which this Information Memorandum has been most recently 
amended or supplemented.
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Citi and the Dealers have not separately verifi ed the information contained in this Information 
Memorandum. None of HDB, Citi, any of the Dealers or any of their respective offi cers or 
employees is making any representation or warranty expressed or implied as to the merits 
of the Notes or the subscription for, purchase or acquisition thereof, the creditworthiness or 
fi nancial condition or otherwise of HDB or its subsidiaries. Further, neither Citi nor any of 
the Dealers gives any representation or warranty as to HDB or its subsidiaries or as to the 
accuracy, reliability or completeness of the information set out herein (including the legal and 
regulatory requirements pertaining to Sections 274, 275 and 276 or any other provisions of 
the SFA) and the documents which are incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this 
Information Memorandum.

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other document or information (or any part 
thereof) delivered or supplied under or in relation to the Programme or the issue of the Notes 
is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered 
as a recommendation by HDB, Citi or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Information 
Memorandum or such other document or information (or such part thereof) should subscribe 
for or purchase any of the Notes. A prospective purchaser shall make its own assessment 
of the foregoing and other relevant matters including the fi nancial condition and affairs and 
the creditworthiness of HDB and its subsidiaries, and obtain its own independent legal or 
other advice thereon, and its investment shall be deemed to be based on its own independent 
investigation of the fi nancial condition and affairs and its appraisal of the creditworthiness of 
HDB. Accordingly, notwithstanding anything herein, none of HDB, Citi, any of the Dealers or 
any of their respective offi cers, employees or agents shall be held responsible for any loss 
or damage suffered or incurred by the recipients of this Information Memorandum or such 
other document or information (or such part thereof) as a result of or arising from anything 
expressly or implicitly contained in or referred to in this Information Memorandum or such other 
document or information (or such part thereof) and the same shall not constitute a ground for 
rescission of any purchase or acquisition of any of the Notes by a recipient of this Information 
Memorandum or such other document or information (or such part thereof).

The following documents published or issued from time to time after the date hereof shall be 
deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form part of, this Information Memorandum: 
(1) any audited consolidated accounts or unaudited interim results of HDB and its subsidiaries 
and (2) any supplement or amendment to this Information Memorandum issued by HDB. 
This Information Memorandum is to be read in conjunction with all such documents which 
are incorporated by reference herein and, with respect to any Series or Tranche of Notes, 
any pricing supplement in respect of such Series or Tranche. Any statement contained in 
this Information Memorandum or in a document deemed to be incorporated by reference 
herein shall be deemed to be modifi ed or superseded for the purpose of this Information 
Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in this Information Memorandum or 
in such subsequent document that is also deemed to be incorporated by reference herein 
modifi es or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). 
Any statement so modifi ed or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modifi ed or 
superseded, to constitute a part of this Information Memorandum. Copies of all documents 
deemed incorporated by reference herein are available for inspection at the specifi ed offi ce of 
the Paying Agent (as defi ned herein).

Any purchase or acquisition of the Notes is in all respects conditional on the satisfaction of 
certain conditions set out in the Programme Agreement (as defi ned herein) and the issue 
of the Notes by HDB pursuant to the Programme Agreement. Any offer, invitation to offer or 
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agreement made in connection with the purchase or acquisition of the Notes or pursuant to this 
Information Memorandum shall (without any liability or responsibility on the part of HDB, Citi 
or any of the Dealers) lapse and cease to have any effect if (for any other reason whatsoever) 
the Notes are not issued by HDB pursuant to the Programme Agreement.

The attention of recipients of this Information Memorandum is drawn to the restrictions on 
resale of the Notes set out under “Subscription, Purchase and Distribution” on pages 48 and 
49 of this Information Memorandum.

Any person(s) who is invited to purchase or subscribe for the Notes or to whom this 
Information Memorandum is sent shall not make any offer or sale, directly or indirectly, 
of any Notes or distribute or cause to be distributed any document or other material in 
connection therewith in any country or jurisdiction except in such manner and in such 
circumstances as will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

It is recommended that persons proposing to subscribe for or purchase any of the 
Notes consult their own legal, tax, fi nancial and other advisers before purchasing or 
acquiring the Notes.
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DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this Information Memorandum, the following defi nitions have been used:

“Agency Agreement” : The Agency Agreement dated 1 February 1999 made between (1) 
HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as fi scal agent, paying agent and agent 
bank, as supplemented by the Supplemental Agency Agreement and 
the Second Supplemental Agency Agreement, and as amended and 
restated by the Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement, 
the Second Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement and 
the Third Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement, and as 
further amended, varied or supplemented from time to time

“Agent Bank” : Citi or such other person for the time being appointed by HDB as 
agent bank

“Amendment and 
Restatement Agency 
Agreement”

: The Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement dated 17 
June 2011 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as fi scal 
agent, paying agent and agent bank

“Amendment and
Restatement Programme 
Agreement”

: The Amendment and Restatement Programme Agreement dated 
17 June 2011 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as 
arranger and dealer

“Arranger” : Citi

“Board” : The Members of the Board of HDB under the H&D Act

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

“Citi” : Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited

“Companies Act” : Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, as amended or modifi ed 
from time to time

“Dealers” : Citi and/or such other Dealers as may be appointed in accordance 
with the Programme Agreement

“Fiscal Agent” : Citi or such other person for the time being appointed by HDB as 
fi scal agent

“Global Notes” : Temporary global notes, or as the context may require, permanent 
global notes

“Government” : The government of Singapore

“HDB” or “Issuer” : Housing and Development Board
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“H&D Act” : Housing and Development Act, Chapter 129 of Singapore, as 
amended or modifi ed from time to time

“Income Tax Act” : Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 of Singapore, as amended or modifi ed 
from time to time

“Issue Date” : The date of issue of each Series or Tranche of Notes

“Issue Price” : The price at which each Series or Tranche of Notes is issued, being 
at par or at a discount, or premium, to par 

“MAS” : The Monetary Authority of Singapore

“Noteholders” : The holders for the time being of the Notes

“Notes” : The notes which may be issued by HDB under the Programme

“Paying Agent” : Citi or such other person for the time being appointed by HDB as 
paying agent

“Pricing Supplement” : Pricing supplement issued relating to each Tranche or, as the case 
may be, Series of Notes

“Programme” : S$32,000,000,000 Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme of 
HDB

“Programme Agreement” : The Programme Agreement dated 1 February 1999 made between 
(1) HDB, as issuer, (2) Citi, as arranger, and (3) Citi, as dealer, as 
supplemented by the Supplemental Programme Agreement and the 
Second Supplemental Programme Agreement, and as amended 
and restated by the Amendment and Restatement Programme 
Agreement, the Second Amendment and Restatement Programme 
Agreement and the Third Amendment and Restatement Programme 
Agreement, and as further amended, varied or supplemented from 
time to time

“Second Amendment 
and Restatement Agency 
Agreement”

: The Second Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement 
dated 17 May 2012 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, 
as fi scal agent, paying agent and agent bank

“Second Amendment 
and Restatement Programme 
Agreement”

: The Second Amendment and Restatement Programme Agreement 
dated 17 May 2012 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, 
as arranger and dealer

“Second Supplemental Agency 
Agreement”

: The Second Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 27 August 
2003 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as fi scal agent, 
paying agent and agent bank
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“Second Supplemental 
Programme Agreement”

: The Second Supplemental Programme Agreement dated 27 August 
2003 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as arranger 
and dealer

“Securities Act” : Securities Act of 1933 of the United States of America, as amended 
or modifi ed from time to time

“Series” : (1) (in relation to Notes other than variable rate notes) a series of 
Notes comprising one or more Tranches, whether or not issued on 
the same date, that (except in respect of their respective dates of 
the fi rst payment of interest and Issue Prices) have identical terms 
on issue and are expressed to have the same series number and 
(2) (in relation to variable rate notes) Notes which are identical in 
all respects (including as to listing) except for their respective Issue 
Prices and rates of interest

“SFA” : Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, as amended 
or modifi ed from time to time

“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

“Supplemental Agency 
Agreement”

: The Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 1 February 2002 made 
between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as fi scal agent, paying 
agent and agent bank

“Supplemental Programme 
Agreement”

: The Supplemental Programme Agreement dated 1 February 2002 
made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as arranger and 
dealer

“S$” or “$” : Singapore dollars

“Third Amendment and 
Restatement Agency 
Agreement”

: The Third Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement dated 9 
June 2014 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, as fi scal 
agent, paying agent and agent bank

“Third Amendment and 
Restatement Programme 
Agreement”

: The Third Amendment and Restatement Programme Agreement 
dated 9 June 2014 made between (1) HDB, as issuer, and (2) Citi, 
as arranger and dealer

“Tranche” : In relation to a Series, those Notes of such Series that are issued 
on the same Issue Date and in respect of which the fi rst interest 
payment is identical and (save in relation to a tender Tranche) at the 
same Issue Price

“U.S.” or “United States” : United States of America

“%” or “per cent.” : Per centum or percentage
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Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa and 
words importing the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter 
genders. References to persons shall, where applicable, include corporations. Any reference 
to a time of day in this Information Memorandum shall be a reference to Singapore time unless 
otherwise stated.

Any reference in this Information Memorandum to any enactment is a reference to that 
enactment as for the time being amended or re-enacted. Any word defi ned under the H&D Act, 
the SFA or any statutory modifi cation thereof and used in this Information Memorandum shall, 
unless otherwise defi ned herein, have the meaning ascribed to it under the H&D Act, the SFA 
or statutory modifi cation (as the case may be).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Issuer : Housing and Development Board

Registered Offi ce : HDB Hub
480 Lorong 6 Toa Payoh
Singapore 310480

The Board : Mr James Koh Cher Siang, Chairman
Mr Matthias Yao Chih
Mr Tham Kui Seng
Mrs Chng Sok Hui
Ms Ong Toon Hui
Assoc Prof Yu Shi Ming
Dr Cheong Koon Hean 
Mr Ong Chong Tee
Mr Tham Sai Choy
BG Tan Wei Ming, Mervyn
Mr Mohd Sa’at Abdul Rahman

Auditors for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 20131

: Deloitte & Touche LLP
6 Shenton Way
OUE Downtown 2
#32-00
Singapore 068809 

Arranger and Dealer : Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited
8 Marina View
#21-01 Asia Square Tower 1
Singapore 018960

Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent and 
Agent Bank

: Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited
3 Changi Business Park Crescent
#03-00 Changi Business Park
Singapore 486026

Legal Adviser to the Programme : Allen & Gledhill LLP
One Marina Boulevard #28-00
Singapore 018989

1 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been appointed as the auditors for the Issuer for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2014 as 
at the date of this Information Memorandum.
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The following does not purport to be complete and is a summary of, and is qualifi ed in its 
entirety by, this Information Memorandum (and any relevant supplement to this Information 
Memorandum), the Programme Agreement, the Agency Agreement and the relevant Pricing 
Supplement.

Issuer : Housing and Development Board

Arranger : Citi

Dealers : Citi and/or such other Dealers as may be appointed in accordance 
with the Programme Agreement

Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent and 
Agent Bank

: Citi

Description : Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme

Programme Size : The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding under 
the Programme at any time shall not exceed S$32,000,000,000 (or its 
equivalent in any other currencies) or such further amount as may be 
approved by the Board and the Minister for National Development

Currency : Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, 
Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and 
the relevant Dealer(s)

Method of Issue : Notes may be issued from time to time under the Programme on a 
syndicated or non-syndicated basis or by way of tender. The Notes 
will be issued in Series. Each Series may be issued in Tranches, on 
the same or different issue dates. The specifi c terms of each Tranche 
will be specifi ed in the relevant Pricing Supplement

Maturities : Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, 
the Notes shall have maturities of not less than 12 months and not 
more than 25 years from their respective issue dates

Issue Price : Notes may be issued at par or at a discount, or premium, to par

Interest Basis : Notes may bear interest at fi xed, fl oating or variable rates

Fixed Rate Notes : Fixed rate notes will bear a fi xed rate of interest which will be repayable 
in arrear on specifi ed dates and at maturity
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Floating Rate Notes : Floating rate notes which are denominated in Singapore dollars will 
bear interest to be determined separately for each Series by reference 
to S$ SIBOR or S$ SWAP RATE (or such other benchmark as may 
be agreed between HDB and the relevant Dealer(s)) as adjusted for 
any applicable margin. Interest periods in relation to the fl oating rate 
notes will be selected by HDB prior to their issue

Floating rate notes which are denominated in other currencies will 
bear interest to be determined separately for each Series by reference 
to such other benchmark as may be agreed between HDB and the 
relevant Dealer(s)

Variable Rate Notes : Variable rate notes will bear interest calculated in accordance with the 
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interest on Floating Rate Notes 
or Variable Rate Notes” below and interest will be payable on the fi rst 
or on the last day of each interest period relating to the variable rate 
notes

Form and Denomination 
of Notes

: The Notes may be issued in bearer form or in registered form only, 
and in such denominations as may be agreed between HDB and the 
relevant Dealer(s)

Custody of the Notes : Notes which are to be listed on the SGX-ST may be cleared through 
CDP. Notes which are to be cleared through CDP are required to be 
kept with CDP as authorised depository

Status of the Notes : The Notes will be direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of 
HDB and shall at all times rank pari passu and without preference 
among themselves. The payment obligations of HDB under the Notes 
shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable 
legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured 
and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of HDB

Optional Redemption : If so provided in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Notes may be 
redeemed in whole or in part prior to their stated maturity at the option 
of the Issuer and/or the holders of Notes

Redemption for Taxation 
Reasons

: Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes will be 
redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for tax 
reasons. See the section on “Terms and Conditions of the Notes – 
Redemption and Purchase” below

Taxation : Payments of principal and interest on the Notes will be made without 
withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes or duties of 
whatever nature imposed by Singapore except as provided in the 
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Taxation” below. For further 
details, see the section on “Taxation” below
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Noteholders’ Option : If, as a result of any amendment to the H&D Act or any other statute, 
HDB ceases to be an authority or body established by written law to 
discharge functions of a public nature, or the Notes cease to be the 
obligations of HDB and any such event would materially and adversely 
affect the interests of the Noteholders, HDB will, at the option of the 
holder of any Note, purchase such Note at its redemption amount 
(together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fi xed for 
purchase)

Listing : Application has been made to the SGX-ST for permission to deal in 
and for quotation of any Notes issued under the Programme which 
are agreed at the time of issue thereof, and approved by the SGX-ST, 
to be so listed on the SGXST. The in-principle approval by the SGX-
ST for the listing of the Notes issued under the Programme shall not 
be taken as an indication of the merits of HDB or its subsidiaries or 
of the Notes. In addition, the Notes may, if so agreed between HDB 
and the relevant Dealer(s), be listed on any stock exchange(s) as may 
be agreed between HDB and the relevant Dealer(s), subject to all 
necessary approvals having been obtained

Selling Restrictions : For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries 
of Notes and the distribution of offering material relating to the Notes, 
see the section on “Subscription, Purchase and Distribution” below. 
Further restrictions may apply in connection with any particular Series 
or Tranche of Notes

Governing Law : Notes issued under the Programme will be governed by, and construed 
in accordance with, the laws of Singapore
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Prior to making an investment or divestment decision, prospective investors or existing 
holders in the Notes should carefully consider all the information set forth in this Information 
Memorandum including the following risk factors:

Limitations of this Information Memorandum

This Information Memorandum does not purport to nor does it contain all information that a 
prospective investor in or existing holder of the Notes may require in investigating the Issuer, 
prior to making an investment or divestment decision in relation to the Notes issued under the 
Programme. Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other document or information 
(or any part thereof) delivered or supplied under or in relation to the Programme or the Notes 
(nor any part thereof) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and 
should not be considered as a recommendation by HDB or Citi that any recipient of this 
Information Memorandum or any such other document or information (or such part thereof) 
should subscribe for or purchase or sell any of the Notes. This Information Memorandum 
is not, and does not purport to be, investment advice. A prospective investor should make 
an investment in the Notes only after it has determined that such investment is suitable for 
its investment objectives. Determining whether an investment in the Notes is suitable is a 
prospective investor’s responsibility, even if the investor has received information to assist 
it in making such a determination. Each person receiving this Information Memorandum 
acknowledges that such person has not relied on HDB or Citi or any person affi liated with each 
of them in connection with its investigation of the accuracy or completeness of the information 
contained herein or of any additional information considered by it to be necessary in connection 
with its investment or divestment decision. Any recipient of this Information Memorandum 
contemplating subscribing for or purchasing or selling any of the Notes should determine for 
itself the relevance of the information contained in this Information Memorandum and any such 
other document or information (or any part thereof) and its investment or divestment should 
be, and shall be deemed to be, based solely upon its own independent investigation of the 
fi nancial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer and 
its subsidiaries, the terms and conditions of the Notes and any other factors relevant to its 
decision, including the merits and risks involved. A prospective investor should consult with its 
legal, tax, fi nancial and other advisers prior to deciding to make an investment in the Notes.

Limited Liquidity of the Notes issued under the Programme

There can be no assurance regarding the future development of the market for the Notes 
issued under the Programme or the ability of such Noteholders, or the price at which such 
Noteholders may be able, to sell their Notes.

Although the issue of additional Notes may increase the liquidity of the Notes, there can be no 
assurance that the price of such Notes will not be adversely affected by the issue in the market 
of such additional Notes.

Fluctuation of Market Value of Notes issued under the Programme

Trading prices of the Notes are infl uenced by numerous factors, including the operating results 
of the Issuer and/or its subsidiaries, political, economic, fi nancial and any other factors that 
can affect the capital markets generally. Adverse economic developments, in Singapore and 
countries with signifi cant trade relations with Singapore, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Singapore economy and the results of operations and/or the fi nancial condition of the 
Issuer and/or its subsidiaries.
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Global fi nancial turmoil has resulted in substantial and continuing volatility in international 
capital markets. Any further deterioration in global fi nancial conditions could have a material 
adverse effect on worldwide fi nancial markets, which may adversely affect the market price of 
any Series of Notes

Financial Risk

Interest payment and principal repayment for debts occur at specifi ed periods regardless 
of the performance of HDB. Notes issued under the Programme are not guaranteed by the 
Government and should HDB suffer a serious decline in its net operating cash fl ows, it may be 
unable to make interest payments or principal repayments under the Notes.

Interest Rate Risk

Noteholders may suffer unforeseen losses due to fl uctuation in interest rates. Generally, a rise 
in interest rates may cause a fall in bond prices, resulting in a capital loss for the Noteholders. 
However, the Noteholders may reinvest the interest payments at higher prevailing interest 
rates. Conversely, when interest rates fall, bond prices may rise. The Noteholders may enjoy 
a capital gain but interest payments received may be reinvested at lower prevailing interest 
rates.

Infl ation Risk

Noteholders may suffer erosion on the return of their investments due to infl ation. Noteholders 
would have an anticipated rate of return based on expected infl ation rates on the purchase of 
the Notes. An unexpected increase in infl ation could reduce the actual returns.

Singapore Taxation Risk

The Notes to be issued from time to time under the Programme during the period from the date 
of this Information Memorandum to 31 December 2018 are, pursuant to the Income Tax Act and 
the MAS Circular FSD Cir 02/2013 entitled “Extension and Refi nement of Tax Concessions for 
Promoting the Debt Market” issued by MAS on 28 June 2013, intended to be “qualifying debt 
securities” for the purposes of the Income Tax Act subject to the fulfi lment of certain conditions 
more particularly described in the section “Taxation”. 

However, there is no assurance that such Notes will continue to enjoy the tax concessions in 
connection therewith should the relevant tax laws or MAS circulars be amended or revoked at 
any time.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of 
his own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have suffi cient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the 
relevant Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information 
contained or incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum or any applicable 
supplement to this Information Memorandum;
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(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context 
of its particular fi nancial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact 
such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have suffi cient fi nancial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment 
in the relevant Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more 
currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the 
potential investor’s currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour 
of any relevant indices and fi nancial markets; and

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a fi nancial adviser) possible scenarios 
for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability 
to bear the applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex fi nancial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as 
a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of 
risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex 
fi nancial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a fi nancial adviser) to 
evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the 
value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall 
investment portfolio.

The Notes may be subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period 
when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of such Notes generally will 
not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true 
prior to any redemption period. The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost 
of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally 
would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as 
the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a signifi cantly 
lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments 
available at that time.

The Notes are subject to a put option in the event of, inter alia, the Issuer ceasing to be 
an authority or body established by written law to discharge functions of a public nature

If, as a result of any amendment to the H&D Act or any other statute, the Issuer ceases to be 
an authority or body established by written law to discharge functions of a public nature or 
the Notes cease to be the obligations of the Issuer and any such event would materially and 
adversely affect the interests of the Noteholders, the Issuer will, at the option of the holder of 
any Note, purchase such Note at its redemption amount together with interest accrued to the 
date fi xed for redemption. In that event, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption 
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed 
and may only be able to do so at a signifi cantly lower rate.



16

RISK FACTORS

Change in Legislation

HDB is constituted under the H&D Act which together with the relevant subsidiary legislation, 
sets out the powers and functions of HDB. If there is any change made to the H&D Act or the 
relevant subsidiary legislation, such change may adversely affect the ability of HDB to comply 
with its obligations under the documents relating to the Programme and the Notes.

Change in Government Funding

HDB’s defi cit is fi nanced by Government grant. In addition, the Ministry of Finance will act as a 
lender of last resort to HDB for its funding requirements. In the event there is a change in the 
funding arrangement with the Government, this may affect the ability of HDB to comply with its 
payment obligations under the documents relating to the Programme and the Notes.
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1  HDB, a statutory board of the Ministry of National Development, was established on 
1 February 1960. Its mission is to provide quality and affordable public housing for 
Singaporeans, create vibrant and sustainable towns, and promote the building of active 
and cohesive communities.

2 As the public housing authority in Singapore, the principal activities of HDB are: 

(i) To develop public housing and related facilities in a total living environment

 This includes planning new HDB towns, upgrading and redeveloping older ones, 
as well as designing and overseeing the construction of HDB fl ats, commercial 
properties, industrial properties and ancillary facilities including car parks and other 
amenities in the housing estates. 

(ii) To allocate properties

 This includes the sale and rental of HDB fl ats, commercial properties and industrial 
properties, as well as the provision of mortgage fi nancing. From 1 January 2003, 
HDB fl at buyers who are not eligible for HDB’s concessionary loans would have 
to obtain market rate loans from banks or fi nancial institutions licensed by the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS). 

(iii)  To manage public housing and related facilities

 This includes lease and tenancy matters for all its residential, commercial and 
industrial properties. 

3 In its initial years, HDB was tasked with addressing the housing shortage problem in 
Singapore and to this end, HDB built low-cost rental housing to meet the accommodation 
needs of the population. HDB has since improved the standards for public housing and 
living conditions in Singapore, encouraged home ownership among Singaporeans, and 
created communities in modern self-suffi cient towns.

4  Since 1960, HDB has built approximately 1,060,0002 residential units in 23 public housing 
towns and other estates across the island. Currently, over 80 per cent of the resident 
population in Singapore live in HDB fl ats, with about 90 per cent of those resident 
households owning their homes. 

5  HDB conducts regular reviews and surveys to ensure that its products and services are 
continually improving and that it keeps pace with the changing needs of the people. In 
line with this, HDB offers a variety of fl at types to suit different needs and income levels. 
For the elderly, Studio Apartments (SA) are specially designed to meet and serve their 
needs. In May 2013, the Studio Apartment Priority Scheme (SAPS) was introduced to 
provide greater assurance of success to elderly applicants right-sizing to an SA near their 
current home, or buying one to stay near their married children. For the multi-generation 
families, purpose-built 3Gen fl ats featuring four bedrooms and three bathrooms (two en-
suites) were introduced from September 2013 to widen their housing options.

2 Figure as at 31 March 2014.
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6 HDB provides targeted assistance through policies and schemes that caters to families 
and households of different circumstances, and at different stages of their lives. The 
Lease Buyback Scheme (LBS), implemented in March 2009, provided low-income 
elderly Singaporeans the option to unlock the value of their fl ats and receive a life-long 
monthly income for retirement needs. The scheme was further expanded in April 2010 
to enable more eligible elderly households to benefi t from it. In February 2013, more 
enhancements were made to the LBS, along with the introduction of the Silver Housing 
Bonus (SHB), so that elderly Singaporeans will need to top up less of their net sale 
proceeds and get more in cash when they participate in the schemes.

7  Another assistance measure, the Additional CPF Housing Grant (AHG) Scheme, was 
implemented in 2006 and further enhanced in 2007 and 2009 to help the lower and 
middle income families own their fi rst home.  More measures were also introduced over 
the last few years to ensure that public housing remains within the reach of Singaporeans 
buying their fi rst fl at. The Special CPF Housing Grant (SHG) Scheme was implemented 
in 2011, and this grant is over and above the regular housing subsidy and the AHG 
to enable more low-income families to own their fi rst fl at, which can be a 2-room or 
3-room standard fl at in the non-mature estates. The scheme was enhanced in Jul 2012 
to expand the housing options available to low-income families. 

8 With effect from 30 July 2013, the AHG and SHG have also been extended to eligible 
fi rst-timer singles who have since then been allowed to buy 2-room standard Build-To-
Order (BTO) fl ats in non-mature estates. For those singles buying a resale fl at in the 
open market, they can also apply for the AHG for their fl at purchase, if eligible. In August 
2013, HDB announced that the coverage for the SHG was further extended to benefi t the 
middle income families buying their fi rst home, which can be up to a 4-room fl at in the 
non-mature estates. Consequently, the income ceiling for SHG for singles buying new 
2-room BTO fl ats was also raised. A new Step-Up CPF Housing Grant was introduced 
as well in August 2013 to help lower income families to upgrade. 

9 To better equip HDB fl ats and public housing estates with the necessary facilities to meet 
the accessibility needs of our ageing population, HDB has embarked on a three-pronged 
approach, comprising Lift Upgrading, Universal Design, and Barrier-Free Accessibility.

 
10 The Lift Upgrading Programme (LUP) enables HDB residents to enjoy the convenience 

of direct lift access on their fl oors. The timely introduction of new technology, such as 
lighter building materials for lift shafts and machine-roomless lifts over the course of the 
programme has helped to reduce the cost and time taken to implement lift upgrading. 
HDB targets to have the new lifts operational in all selected precincts by end 2014. The 
existing lifts will be upgraded, or shut down where they are no longer needed. Universal 
Design was introduced for new HDB projects from July 2006 to make HDB fl ats more 
user-friendly to the elderly, disabled, and those with young families. New HDB fl ats will 
henceforth be built with seamless interiors and wider corridors to facilitate wheelchair 
movement. HDB also worked with all Town Councils on the implementation of the Barrier-
Free Accessibility (BFA) programme for the existing estates, to provide the elderly and 
those on wheelchairs with seamless access to car parks, bus stops and other facilities. 
The BFA programme was completed in mid-2012, enabling residents of all ages to move 
about easily within the estates, and lead healthy and active lives. 
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11 In addition, HDB also undertakes an estate renewal strategy, on behalf of the 
Government, to rejuvenate its older estates. This includes the Selective En bloc 
Redevelopment Scheme (SERS) as well as two upgrading programmes – the Home 
Improvement Programme (HIP), and the Neighbourhood Renewal Programme (NRP). 
Under SERS, selected old blocks of sold fl ats are acquired for redevelopment and the 
residents involved are given an opportunity to move to new fl ats with fresh 99-year leases 
and a better living environment served by modern facilities. By rehousing residents en 
bloc, SERS enables residents to preserve the family and community ties built over the 
years. The injection of new developments helps to rejuvenate the old estates, as well as 
revitalise the demographic and economic profi les of the residents. HIP helps fl at owners 
deal with common maintenance problems related to ageing fl ats in a systematic and 
comprehensive manner, while NRP focuses on precinct- and block-level improvements. 
Both programmes have been well-received as residents are involved in the decision-
making process by voting on matters affecting their immediate neighbourhood. The 
programmes thus provide greater fl exibility in the provision of upgrading items such 
as covered linkways, vehicular drop-off, and playgrounds. More options for the elderly 
have also been introduced since July 2012. These improvements come under the 
Enhancement for Active Seniors (EASE) package and aim to create a safer and more 
comfortable living environment for the elderly. 

12 Since 2007, HDB has embarked on an initiative known as “Remaking Our Heartland” 
(ROH) to rejuvenate existing public housing estates. The ROH plans are on track to 
transform HDB estates into vibrant homes for Singaporeans. Punggol, Yishun and 
Dawson estate were the fi rst three heartland towns to be rejuvenated. Singapore’s fi rst 
man-made waterway, My Waterway@Punggol was completed in October 2011, and 
Punggol is well on its way to becoming ‘A Waterfront Town of the 21st Century’ - with the 
town’s water frontage and waterside lifestyle offering an array of activities for all ages. 
Events are also organised along the waterway to educate and engage the residents 
to adopt an environmentally friendly lifestyle. These events are important platforms 
for residents to get together to forge neighbourly ties and sustain community bonds. 
Yishun’s remaking plans would give the town a revitalised town centre, outdoor facilities 
and heritage trails. Dawson would be given a new lease of life with a new generation of 
public housing equipped with eco-friendly features.

13 Another three areas announced in 2011, Hougang, East Coast and Jurong Lake, 
will also benefi t from rejuvenation plans under the ROH blueprint. Upcoming plans 
include the upgrading of Hougang Town Centre which will offer shopping, dining and 
entertainment facilities. Bedok Town Centre will be directly linked to East Coast Park and 
Bedok Reservoir Park via a dedicated cycling and pedestrian paths. In addition, there 
is also a comprehensive cycling network to serve this area. Jurong will be substantially 
developed into a vibrant regional centre with a vast array of shopping, entertainment and 
food options. The town and neighbourhood centres in Hougang, Bedok and Jurong Lake 
will also be upgraded to improve the vibrancy of the towns and ensure that they continue 
to meet residents’ needs.

14  As part of its Roadmap for Better Living in HDB Towns, launched its fi rst eco precinct, 
Treelodge@Punggol in 2007. Completed in end-2010, the precinct showcases a range 
of green technologies and innovations for effective and effi cient energy, water, and waste 
management, enabling residents to lead a green lifestyle. The successful implementation 
of the eco precinct sets the direction for HDB towards environmentally friendly designs, 
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bringing it a step closer to achieving environmental sustainability. Starting from the 
January 2014 Build-to-Order (BTO) launch, a standard suite of eco-features has been 
implemented in all new public housing developments island-wide; these include eco-
pedestals which recycle water for toilet fl ushing in bathrooms, energy-effi cient lighting 
with motion sensor control to lower energy consumption, and Centralised Chutes for 
Recyclable to promote recycling. HDB has also developed a new business model to 
tap on private enterprises in the wide-scale implementation of green technologies. 
Singapore’s fi rst solar leasing project (2 mega-watt-peak (MWp) systems) was awarded 
in August 2011 to power the common services (common area lighting, water pumps and 
lift services) for 40 residential blocks. Following the success of the fi rst solar leasing 
project, a second, and larger 3 mega-watt-peak solar leasing project was awarded 
in January 2013. An estimated 70 blocks will be installed with the solar PV system, 
generating electricity to power the common services in the blocks.

15 Other than providing the hardware of towns, HDB’s work also extends to strengthening 
the heartware of a community.  With the goal of building active and cohesive communities, 
HDB has organised a series of community bonding activities that engage residents and 
cultivate a sense of attachment and belonging to the community.  These programmes, 
such as Welcome Parties and the Good Neighbours Project, serve as platforms for 
interaction among residents.  The annual HDB Community Week, fi rst held in 2012, is 
also a key part of HDB’s overall strategy to further strengthen community bonds and to 
foster the kampung spirit. Highlights for this event held in May 2014 included the launch 
of the Good Neighbours Movement, along with the Good Neighbours Project showcase, 
“Stories on Wheels” Roving Exhibition, “Maddie Makes Friends” Storybook, and “The 
HeART of Neighbourliness” publication. Other event highlights were the Celebrating 
LIFE in the Heartlands Photo Exhibition, Community Building Seminar and Build-a-thon, 
and Heartland Youthoria!.

16 In keeping pace with the changing times, HDB is constantly innovating and adopting the 
latest technologies. To bring greater convenience to buyers, HDB launched Mobile@HDB 
in 2010, a mobile-friendly site which provides customers a convenient, one-stop access 
to a suite of HDB services. Subsequently, dedicated applications for Mobile@HDB were 
introduced in 2011 and 2012 for Apple and Android devices, respectively, to increase 
its usage and leverage on the devices’ functionalities. Mobile@HDB had garnered the 
Merit Award (m-services category) in the eGov Excellence Awards 2013, together with 
MyDoc@HDB (e-services category) and HDB InfoWEB (websites category) which won 
the Distinguished and Merit Awards respectively.

17 In recognition of its efforts in delivering quality and excellence in public housing, HDB 
has garnered numerous local and international awards. These include the PS21 Best 
Practice Award (Regulation) in 2014 for delivering housing policies that meet the diverse 
needs of citizens, the CIO100’s CIO Asia Awards in 2012 for its IT-enabled innovation 
in effective service delivery, and the Public Service Premier Award in 2010 for attaining 
national and international benchmarks for excellence. Other notable awards conferred 
on HDB include the 2010 UN-HABITAT Scroll of Honour Award for providing one of Asia’s 
and the world’s greenest, cleanest and most socially conscious housing programmes, the 
United Nations Public Service Award in 2008 for HDB’s Home Ownership programme, 
and the Singapore Quality Award (with Special Commendation) in 2008.
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Financing of Housing and Development Board

The HDB’s defi cit is fi nanced by Government grant. In addition, a grant is given to the HDB so 
that the reserves of past governments are protected in accordance with the Constitution of the 
Republic of Singapore.

The main loans which fi nance HDB’s operations are:

(i) The mortgage fi nancing loans obtained from the Government to fi nance the mortgage 
loans granted to the purchasers of fl ats under the public housing schemes.

(ii) Housing development loans from the Government, bonds issued and bank loans to 
fi nance HDB’s development programmes and operational requirements.

HDB will continue to access the capital market to fund its development programmes and 
operational requirements. The Ministry of Finance will act as the lender of last resort to HDB 
for its funding requirements.
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The net proceeds of the Notes to be issued by HDB under the Programme will be used to 
fi nance the development programmes of HDB and its working capital requirements as well as 
to refi nance the existing borrowings.
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Financial Highlights of HDB Group

 $ million 
        

2012/2013 2011/2012 2010/2011 2009/2010
(restated) (restated)

RESULTS BY SEGMENT

Defi cit from :
Home ownership (719) (411) (506) (562)
Upgrading (619) (625) (613) (709)
Residential ancillary functions (116) (100) (60) (64)
Rental fl ats (61) (57) (49) (82)
Mortgage fi nancing (27) (24) (26) (26)
Elimination of inter-segment transactions 25 47 58 55
Housing total defi cit (1,517) (1,170) (1,196) (1,388)

Surplus from :
Other rental and related businesses 723 761 1,101 532
Agency and others 43 35 27 24
Elimination of inter-segment transactions (37) (53) (69) (61)
Other Activities total surplus 729 743 1,059 495

Overall Defi cit (788) (427) (137) (893)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties

21,529 20,834 20,292 19,887

Loans receivable 38,131 40,403 42,470 45,148
Properties under development and 

for sale
13,665 9,491 6,663 4,669

Other assets 2,364 2,313 2,897 3,036

Total assets 75,689 73,041 72,322 72,740
Less:
Loans payable 56,962 55,011 55,250 55,736
Other liabilities 3,716 3,232 2,537 2,562

Total net assets 15,011 14,798 14,535 14,442

Capital and reserves 14,978 14,766 14,505 14,413
Minority interests 33 32 30 29

Total equity 15,011 14,798 14,535 14,442
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Housing and Development Board 
S$32,000,000,000 Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, subject to completion and 
amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the relevant 
Pricing Supplement, will be endorsed on the Notes in defi nitive form issued in exchange for the 
Global Note(s) or, as the case may be, the Global Certifi cate(s) representing each Series. Either 
(i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of the Pricing 
Supplement or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or 
varied (and subject to simplifi cation by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be 
endorsed on such Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defi ned in these Conditions will 
have the meanings given to them in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Those defi nitions will 
be endorsed on the defi nitive Notes or Certifi cates, as the case may be. References in the 
Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued 
under the Programme, details of the relevant Series being shown on the face of the relevant 
Notes and in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Agency Agreement dated 1 February 1999 made between 
Housing and Development Board (the “Issuer”), Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited 
as fi scal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”), Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited as paying 
agent (the “Paying Agent”), and Citicorp Investment Bank (Singapore) Limited as agent 
bank (the “Agent Bank”) (as supplemented by a Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 1 
February 2002 and a Second Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 27 August 2003, and 
as amended and restated by an Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement dated 
17 June 2011, a Second Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement dated 17 May 2012 
and a Third Amendment and Restatement Agency Agreement dated 9 June 2014, all made 
between the same parties, and as further amended, varied or supplemented from time to 
time, the “Agency Agreement”) and (where applicable) the Notes are issued with the benefi t 
of a deed of covenant dated 1 February 1999 relating to the Notes executed by the Issuer 
(as supplemented by a Supplemental Deed of Covenant dated 1 February 2002, a Second 
Supplemental Deed of Covenant dated 17 June 2011, a Third Supplemental Deed of Covenant 
dated 17 May 2012 and a Fourth Supplemental Deed of Covenant dated 9 June 2014, all 
executed by the Issuer, and as further amended, varied or supplemented from time to time, the 
“Deed of Covenant”). These terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, 
the detailed provisions of the Agency Agreement. The Noteholders (as defi ned below) and the 
holders of the coupons (the “Coupons”) appertaining to interest-bearing Notes in bearer form 
(the “Couponholders”) are bound by and are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of 
the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the 
specifi ed offi ces of each of the Paying Agents.

1. Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer

(a) Form and Denomination

(i) The Notes of the Series of which this Note forms part (in these Conditions, the “Notes”) 
are issued in bearer form (the “Bearer Notes”) or in registered form (the “Registered 
Notes”) in each case in the Denomination Amount(s) shown hereon.
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(ii) This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Variable Rate Note (depending 
upon the Interest Basis shown on its face).

(iii) Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons attached, save in the 
case of Bearer Notes that do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other 
than in relation to default interest referred to in Condition 5(f)) in these Conditions are not 
applicable.

(iv) Registered Notes are represented by registered certifi cates (the “Certifi cates”) and, 
save as provided in Condition 1(d), each Certifi cate shall represent the entire holding of 
Registered Notes by the same holder.

(b) Title

(i) Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons appertaining thereto shall pass by delivery. 
Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register (the “Register”) 
to be kept by or on behalf of the Issuer in accordance with the provisions of the Agency 
Agreement.

(ii) Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder 
of any Note or Coupon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute 
owner of such Note or of such Coupon, as the case may be, for the purpose of receiving 
payment thereof or on account thereof and for all other purposes, whether or not such 
Note or Coupon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or 
loss thereof (or that of the related Certifi cate) or any writing on it (or on the Certifi cate 
representing it) made by anyone, and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

(iii) For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note or, as the case may 
be, a Global Certifi cate and such Global Note or, as the case may be, Global Certifi cate 
is held by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (the “Depository”), each person who is 
for the time being shown in the records of the Depository as the holder of a particular 
principal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certifi cate or other document issued 
by the Depository as to the principal amount of such Notes standing to the account of 
any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest 
error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Agent Bank 
and all other agents of the Issuer as the holder of such principal amount of Notes other 
than with respect to the payment of principal, interest and any other amounts in respect 
of the Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the Global Note or, as the case may be, the 
person(s) shown on the Register at the close of business on the Record Date (defi ned 
below) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Agent 
Bank and all other agents of the Issuer as the holder of such Notes in accordance with 
and subject to the terms of the Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global Certifi cate 
(and the expressions “Noteholder” and “holder of Notes” and related expressions shall 
be construed accordingly). Notes which are represented by the Global Note or, as the 
case may be, the Global Certifi cate will be transferable only in accordance with the rules 
and procedures for the time being of the Depository.

(iv) In these Conditions, “Global Note” means the relevant Temporary Global Note 
representing each Series of Bearer Notes or the relevant Permanent Global Note 
representing each Series of Bearer Notes, “Global Certifi cate” means the relevant 
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Global Certifi cate representing each Series of Registered Notes, “Noteholder” means 
the bearer of any Defi nitive Note in bearer form or the person in whose name a Registered 
Note is registered (as the case may be) and “holder” (in relation to a Defi nitive Note or 
Coupon) means the bearer of any Defi nitive Note in bearer form or Coupon or the person 
in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), “Series” means 
(1) (in relation to Notes other than Variable Rate Notes) a series of Notes comprising 
one or more Tranches, whether or not issued on the same date, that (except in respect 
of their respective dates of the fi rst payment of interest and Issue Prices) have identical 
terms on issue and are expressed to have the same series number and (2) (in relation 
to Variable Rate Notes) Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) 
except for their respective Issue Prices and Rates of Interest and “Tranche” means, in 
relation to a Series, those Notes of such Series that are issued on the same Issue Date 
and in respect of which the fi rst interest payment is identical and (save in relation to a 
Tender Tranche) at the same Issue Price.

(v) Words and expressions defi ned in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Pricing 
Supplement (as defi ned in the Agency Agreement) shall have the same meanings where 
used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise 
stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement 
and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

(c) Transfer of Registered Notes

 One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender of the Certifi cate 
representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, to the Issuer or to such other 
person as the Issuer may designate, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such 
Certifi cate (or such other forms of transfer in substantially the same form and containing the 
same representations and certifi cations (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), 
duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Issuer may reasonably 
require and subject to the regulations relating to, inter alia, the registration and transfer 
of Registered Notes set out in the Agency Agreement or such other regulations as the 
Issuer may from time to time reasonably prescribe. No transfer of title to any Registered 
Note will be valid or effective unless and until entered on the Register. In the case of a 
transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certifi cate, a 
new Certifi cate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a 
further new Certifi cate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be 
issued to the transferor; provided that, in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a 
person who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certifi cate representing the 
enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certifi cate representing 
the existing holding.

(d) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes
 
 In the case of an exercise of any option by the Issuer or any Noteholder in respect of, or a 

partial redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certifi cate, 
a new Certifi cate shall be issued to the holder to refl ect the exercise of such option or in 
respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an 
option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate 
Certifi cates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same 
terms. New Certifi cates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certifi cates 
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to the Issuer. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already 
a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certifi cate representing the enlarged holding shall 
only be issued against surrender of the Certifi cate representing the existing holding. 

(e) Delivery of New Certifi cates

 Each new Certifi cate to be issued pursuant to Condition 1(c) or 1(d) shall be available 
for delivery within 30 Business Days of receipt of a duly completed request for exchange 
or form of transfer or exercise notice and the surrender of the original Certifi cate for 
exchange together with satisfaction of any other requirements imposed by these 
Conditions. Delivery of the new Certifi cate(s) shall be made at the head offi ce of the 
Issuer or at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent, in each case to whom delivery or surrender 
of such request for exchange, form of transfer, exercise notice or original Certifi cate 
shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender 
as aforesaid and as specifi ed in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, 
exercise notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the 
holder entitled to the new Certifi cate to such address as may be so specifi ed, unless 
such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the Issuer the costs of such other 
method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify.

 In this Condition 1(e), “Business Day” means a day on which banks and foreign exchange 
markets are open for general business in the place of the head offi ce of the Issuer or, as 
the case may be, the specifi ed offi ce of the relevant agent.

(f) Charges

 Exchange and transfer of Registered Notes on registration, transfer, partial redemption 
or exercise of an option shall be effected at a fee of S$30 for each registration, transfer, 
redemption or exercise of option and the Issuer may require the payment of any tax or 
other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such 
indemnity as the Issuer may require).

(g) Closed Periods

 Without prejudice to Condition 1(h) below, no Noteholder may require the transfer of a 
Registered Note to be registered (i) during the period of seven Business Days ending on 
(and including) the due date for redemption of that Note, (ii) during the period of seven 
Business Days ending on (and including) any date on which Notes may be called for 
redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 4(d), (iii) after the Registered 
Notes have been called for redemption or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on 
(and including) any Record Date (as defi ned in Condition 5(a)).

(h) Closing of Register

 The Issuer shall have the right at any time to close the Register for such periods as the 
Issuer may determine in order to facilitate any payment on, or redemption of, the Notes 
or otherwise and no Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be 
registered during such periods when the Register is closed.
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(i) Regulations

 All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the 
detailed regulations concerning transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Agency 
Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval 
of the Fiscal Agent.

2. Status

 The Notes and Coupons of all Series constitute direct, unconditional and unsecured 
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without preference 
among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and Coupons 
shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation, at all times 
rank at least equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and 
monetary obligations of the Issuer.

3. (I) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

(a) Interest Rate and Accrual

 Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount (as defi ned in Condition 
3(II)(d)) from the Interest Commencement Date in respect thereof and as shown on 
the face of such Note at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the 
Interest Rate shown on the face of such Note payable in arrear on each Interest Payment 
Date or Interest Payment Dates shown on the face of such Note in each year and on 
the Maturity Date shown on the face of such Note if that date does not fall on an Interest 
Payment Date.

 The fi rst payment of interest will be made on the Interest Payment Date next following 
the Interest Commencement Date (and if the Interest Commencement Date is not an 
Interest Payment Date, will amount to the Initial Broken Amount shown on the face of 
such Note), unless the Maturity Date falls before the date on which the fi rst payment of 
interest would otherwise be due. If the Maturity Date is not an Interest Payment Date, 
interest from the preceding Interest Payment Date (or from the Interest Commencement 
Date, as the case may be) to (but excluding) the Maturity Date will amount to the Final 
Broken Amount shown on the face of such Note.

 Interest will cease to accrue on each Fixed Rate Note from the due date for redemption 
thereof unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount shown on 
the face of the Note is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest at such 
rate will continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the rate and in the 
manner provided in this Condition 3(I) to (but excluding) the Relevant Date (as defi ned 
in Condition 6).

(b) Calculations

 In the case of a Fixed Rate Note, interest in respect of a period of less than one year will 
be calculated on the Day Count Fraction shown on the face of the Note.
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(II) Interest on Floating Rate Notes or Variable Rate Notes

(a) Interest Payment Dates

 Each Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount 
from the Interest Commencement Date in respect thereof and as shown on the face of 
such Note, and such interest will be payable in arrear on each interest payment date 
(“Interest Payment Date”). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon 
as Specifi ed Interest Payment Date(s) or, if no Specifi ed Interest Payment Date(s) is/are 
shown hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which (save as mentioned in 
these Conditions) falls the number of months specifi ed as the Interest Period on the face 
of the Note (the “Specifi ed Number of Months”) after the preceding Interest Payment 
Date or, in the case of the fi rst Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement 
Date (and which corresponds numerically with such preceding Interest Payment Date or 
the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be), provided that the Agreed Yield 
(as defi ned in Condition 3(II)(c)) in respect of any Variable Rate Note for any Interest 
Period relating to that Variable Rate Note shall be payable on the fi rst day of that Interest 
Period. If any Interest Payment Date referred to in these Conditions that is specifi ed to be 
subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise 
fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then if the Business Day Convention specifi ed 
is (1) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the 
next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar 
month, in which event (i) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding 
Business Day and (ii) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the 
month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (2) the 
Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is 
a Business Day, (3) the Modifi ed Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be 
postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next 
calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately 
preceding Business Day or (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall 
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

 The period beginning on the Interest Commencement Date and ending on the fi rst 
Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on an Interest Payment 
Date and ending on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is herein called an 
“Interest Period”.

 Interest will cease to accrue on each Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note from the due 
date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption 
Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue 
(as well after as before judgment) at the rate and in the manner provided in this Condition 
3(II) to (but excluding) the Relevant Date.

(b) Rate of Interest - Floating Rate Notes

(i) Each Floating Rate Note bears interest at a fl oating rate determined by reference to a 
Benchmark as stated on the face of such Floating Rate Note, being (in the case of Notes 
which are denominated in Singapore Dollars) SIBOR (in which case such Note will be a 
SIBOR Note) or Swap Rate (in which case such Note will be a Swap Rate Note) or (in 
any other case or in the case of Notes which are denominated in a currency other than 
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Singapore Dollars) such other Benchmark as is set out on the face of such Note.

 Such fl oating rate may be adjusted by adding or subtracting the Spread (if any) stated 
on the face of such Note. The “Spread” is the percentage rate per annum specifi ed on 
the face of such Note as being applicable to the rate of interest for such Note. The rate 
of interest so calculated shall be subject to Condition 3(III)(a) below.

 The rate of interest payable in respect of a Floating Rate Note from time to time is 
referred to in these Conditions as the “Rate of Interest”.

(ii) The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of each Floating Rate Note will 
be determined by the Agent Bank on the basis of the following provisions:

(1) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are SIBOR Notes:

(A) the Agent Bank will, at or about the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest 
Determination Date in respect of each Interest Period, determine the Rate of 
Interest for such Interest Period which shall be the offered rate for deposits 
in Singapore Dollars for a period equal to the duration of such Interest Period 
which appears on the Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX) 
Page under the column headed “SGD SIBOR” (or such other replacement 
page thereof for the purpose of displaying SIBOR or such other Screen Page 
as may be provided hereon) and as adjusted by the Spread (if any);

(B) if no such rate appears on the Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and SIBOR 
(ABSIRFIX) Page (or such other replacement page as aforesaid) or if the 
Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX) Page (or such 
other replacement page as aforesaid) is unavailable for any reason, the 
Agent Bank will, at or about the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest 
Determination Date in respect of each Interest Period, determine the Rate of 
Interest for such Interest Period which shall be the offered rate for deposits 
in Singapore Dollars for a period equal to the duration of such Interest Period 
which appears on the Reuters Screen ABSIRFIX01 Page under the caption 
“ABS SIBOR FIX - SIBOR AND SWAP OFFER RATES - RATES AT 11:00 
HRS SINGAPORE TIME” and under the column headed “SGD SIBOR” (or 
such other replacement page thereof for the purpose of displaying SIBOR or 
such other Screen Page as may be provided hereon) and as adjusted by the 
Spread (if any);

(C) if no such rate appears on the Reuters Screen ABSIRFIX01 Page under the 
column headed “SGD SIBOR” (or such other replacement page thereof or if 
no rate appears on such other Screen Page as may be provided hereon) or 
if the Reuters Screen ABSIRFIX01 Page (or such other replacement page 
thereof or such other Screen Page as may be provided hereon) is unavailable 
for any reason, the Agent Bank will request the principal Singapore offi ces 
of each of the Reference Banks to provide the Agent Bank with the rate 
at which deposits in Singapore Dollars are offered by it at approximately 
the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the 
Singapore interbank market for a period equivalent to the duration of such 
Interest Period commencing on such Interest Payment Date in an amount 
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comparable to the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Floating Rate 
Notes. The Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic 
mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) of such offered 
quotations and as adjusted by the Spread (if any), as determined by the 
Agent Bank;

(D) if on any Interest Determination Date two but not all the Reference Banks 
provide the Agent Bank with such quotations, the Rate of Interest for the 
relevant Interest Period shall be determined in accordance with (C) above 
on the basis of the quotations of those Reference Banks providing such 
quotations; and

(E) if on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference 
Banks provides the Agent Bank with such quotations, the Rate of Interest for 
the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent Bank 
determines to be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest 
1/16 per cent.) of the rates quoted by the Reference Banks or those of them 
(being at least two in number) to the Agent Bank at or about the Relevant 
Time on such Interest Determination Date as being their cost (including 
the cost occasioned by or attributable to complying with reserves, liquidity, 
deposit or other requirements imposed on them by any relevant authority or 
authorities) of funding, for the relevant Interest Period, an amount equal to 
the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Floating Rate Notes for such 
Interest Period by whatever means they determine to be most appropriate 
and as adjusted by the Spread (if any) or if on such Interest Determination 
Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent Bank with 
such quotation, the rate per annum which the Agent Bank determines to be 
the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) 
of the prime lending rates for Singapore Dollars quoted by the Reference 
Banks at or about the Relevant Time on such Interest Determination Date 
and as adjusted by the Spread (if any);

(2) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are Swap Rate Notes:

(A) the Agent Bank will, at or about the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest 
Determination Date in respect of each Interest Period, determine the Rate 
of Interest for such Interest Period as being the rate which appears on the 
Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX) Page under the 
column headed “SGD Swap Offer” (or such replacement page thereof for the 
purpose of displaying the swap rates of leading reference banks) at or about 
the Relevant Time on such Interest Determination Date and for a period 
equal to the duration of such Interest Period) and as adjusted by the Spread 
(if any);

(B) if on any Interest Determination Date no such rate is quoted on the 
Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and SIBOR (ABSIRFIX) Page (or such other 
replacement page as aforesaid) or the Bloomberg Screen Swap Offer and 
SIBOR (ABSIRFIX) Page (or such other replacement page as aforesaid) is 
unavailable for any reason, the Agent Bank will, at or about the Relevant 
Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date in respect of each Interest 
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Period, determine the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period as being the 
rate which appears on the Reuters Screen ABSFIX01 Page under the caption 
“SGD SOR rates as of 11:00hrs London Time” under the column headed 
“SGD SOR” (or such replacement page thereof for the purpose of displaying 
the swap rates of leading reference banks) at or about the Relevant Time on 
such Interest Determination Date and for a period equal to the duration of 
such Interest Period and as adjusted by the Spread (if any);

(C) if on any Interest Determination Date no such rate is quoted on Reuters 
Screen ABSFIX01 Page (or such other replacement page as aforesaid) 
or Reuters Screen ABSFIX01 Page (or such other replacement page as 
aforesaid) is unavailable for any reason, the Agent Bank will determine the 
Rate of Interest for such Interest Period as being the rate (or, if there is 
more than one rate which is published, the arithmetic mean of those rates 
(rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest 1/16 per cent.)) for a period equal 
to the duration of such Interest Period published by a recognised industry 
body where such rate is widely used (after taking into account the industry 
practice at that time), or by such other relevant authority as the Agent Bank 
may select; and

(D) if on any Interest Determination Date the Agent Bank is otherwise unable 
to determine the Rate of Interest under paragraphs (A), (B) and (C) above, 
the Rate of Interest shall be determined by the Agent Bank to be the rate 
per annum equal to the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the 
nearest 1/16 per cent.) of the rates quoted by the Singapore offi ces of the 
Reference Banks or those of them (being at least two in number) to the 
Agent Bank at or about 11.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the fi rst business 
day following such Interest Determination Date as being their cost (including 
the cost occasioned by or attributable to complying with reserves, liquidity, 
deposit or other requirements imposed on them by any relevant authority or 
authorities) of funding, for the relevant Interest Period, an amount equal to 
the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Floating Rate Notes for such 
Interest Period by whatever means they determine to be most appropriate 
and as adjusted by the Spread (if any), or if on such day one only or none of 
the Singapore offi ces of the Reference Banks provides the Agent Bank with 
such quotation, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be 
the rate per annum equal to the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, 
to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) of the prime lending rates for Singapore Dollars 
quoted by the Singapore offi ces of the Reference Banks at or about 11.00 
a.m. (Singapore time) on such Interest Determination Date and as adjusted 
by the Spread (if any); and

(3) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are not SIBOR Notes or Swap Rate Notes 
or which are denominated in a currency other than Singapore Dollars, the Agent 
Bank will determine the Rate of Interest in respect of any Interest Period at or about 
the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in respect of such Interest 
Period as follows:

(A)  if the Primary Source (as defi ned below) for the Floating Rate is a Screen 
Page (as defi ned below), subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest in 
respect of such Interest Period shall be:
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(aa)  the Relevant Rate (as defi ned below) (where such Relevant Rate on 
such Screen Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied 
by one entity); or

(bb) the arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose 
Relevant Rates appear on that Screen Page, in each case appearing on 
such Screen Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination 
Date,

 and as adjusted by the Spread (if any);

(B) if the Primary Source for the Floating Rate is Reference Banks or if paragraph 
(b)(ii)(3)(A)(aa) applies and no Relevant Rate appears on the Screen Page 
at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date or if paragraph 
(b)(ii)(3)(A)(bb) applies and fewer than two Relevant Rates appear on the 
Screen Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, 
subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the rate per annum 
which the Agent Bank determines to be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if 
necessary, to the nearest 1/16 per cent.) of the Relevant Rates that each of 
the Reference Banks is quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial 
Centre (as defi ned below) at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination 
Date and as adjusted by the Spread (if any); and

(C) if paragraph (b)(ii)(3)(B) applies and the Agent Bank determines that 
fewer than two Reference Banks are so quoting Relevant Rates, the Rate 
of Interest shall be the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest 
Determination Date.

(iii) On the last day of each Interest Period, the Issuer will pay interest on each Floating Rate 
Note to which such Interest Period relates at the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period.

(iv) For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that the Rate of Interest in relation to any Interest 
Period is less than zero, the Rate of Interest in relation to such Interest Period shall be 
equal to zero.

(c) Rate of Interest - Variable Rate Notes

(i) Each Variable Rate Note bears interest at a variable rate determined in accordance with 
the provisions of this paragraph (c). The interest payable in respect of a Variable Rate 
Note on the fi rst day of an Interest Period relating to that Variable Rate Note is referred 
to in these Conditions as the “Agreed Yield” and the rate of interest payable in respect 
of a Variable Rate Note on the last day of an Interest Period relating to that Variable Rate 
Note is referred to in these Conditions as the “Rate of Interest”.

(ii) The Agreed Yield or, as the case may be, the Rate of Interest payable from time to time 
in respect of each Variable Rate Note for each Interest Period shall, subject as referred 
to in paragraph (c)(iv) below, be determined as follows:

(1) not earlier than 9.00 a.m. (Singapore time) on the ninth Business Day nor later than 
3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the third Business Day prior to the commencement 
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of each Interest Period, the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer (as defi ned below) 
shall endeavour to agree on the following:

(A) whether interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is to be paid on 
the fi rst day or the last day of such Interest Period;

(B) if interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is agreed between the Issuer 
and the Relevant Dealer to be paid on the fi rst day of such Interest Period, an 
Agreed Yield in respect of such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period 
(and, in the event of the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer so agreeing on such 
Agreed Yield, the Interest Amount (as defi ned below) for such Variable Rate 
Note for such Interest Period shall be zero); and

(C) if interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note is agreed between the Issuer 
and the Relevant Dealer to be paid on the last day of such Interest Period, 
a Rate of Interest in respect of such Variable Rate Note for such Interest 
Period (an “Agreed Rate”) and, in the event of the Issuer and the Relevant 
Dealer so agreeing on an Agreed Rate, such Agreed Rate shall be the Rate 
of Interest for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period; and

(2) if the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer shall not have agreed either an Agreed Yield 
or an Agreed Rate in respect of such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period by 
3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on the third Business Day prior to the commencement 
of such Interest Period, or if there shall be no Relevant Dealer during the period for 
agreement referred to in (1) above, the Rate of Interest for such Variable Rate Note 
for such Interest Period shall automatically be the rate per annum equal to the Fall 
Back Rate (as defi ned below) for such Interest Period.

(iii) The Issuer has undertaken to the Fiscal Agent and the Agent Bank that it will as soon as 
possible after the Agreed Yield or, as the case may be, the Agreed Rate in respect of any 
Variable Rate Note is determined but not later than 10.30 a.m. (Singapore time) on the 
next following Business Day:

(1) notify the Fiscal Agent and the Agent Bank of the Agreed Yield or, as the case may 
be, the Agreed Rate for such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period; and

(2) cause such Agreed Yield or, as the case may be, Agreed Rate for such Variable 
Rate Note to be notifi ed by the Fiscal Agent to the relevant Noteholder at its request.

(iv) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (ii) above, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period 
for which there is neither an Agreed Yield nor Agreed Rate in respect of any Variable 
Rate Note(s) or no Relevant Dealer in respect of the Variable Rate Note(s) shall be the 
rate (the “Fall Back Rate”) determined by reference to a Benchmark as stated on the 
face of such Variable Rate Note(s), being (in the case of Variable Rate Notes which are 
denominated in Singapore Dollars) SIBOR (in which case such Variable Rate Note(s) 
will be SIBOR Note(s)) or Swap Rate (in which case such Variable Rate Note(s) will be 
Swap Rate Note(s)) or (in any other case or in the case of Variable Rate Notes which are 
denominated in a currency other than Singapore Dollars) such other Benchmark as is set 
out on the face of such Variable Rate Note(s).
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 Such rate may be adjusted by adding or subtracting the Spread (if any) stated on the 
face of such Variable Rate Note(s). The “Spread” is the percentage rate per annum 
specifi ed on the face of such Variable Rate Note(s) as being applicable to the Rate 
of Interest for such Variable Rate Note(s). The Rate of Interest so calculated shall be 
subject to Condition 3(III)(a) below.

 The Fall Back Rate payable from time to time in respect of each Variable Rate Note will 
be determined by the Agent Bank in accordance with the provisions of Condition 3(II) 
(b)(ii) above (mutatis mutandis) and references therein to “Rate of Interest” shall mean 
“Fall Back Rate”.

(v) If interest is payable in respect of a Variable Rate Note on the fi rst day of an Interest Period 
relating to such Variable Rate Note, the Issuer will pay the Agreed Yield applicable to 
such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period on the fi rst day of such Interest Period. 
If interest is payable in respect of a Variable Rate Note on the last day of an Interest 
Period relating to such Variable Rate Note, the Issuer will pay the Interest Amount for 
such Variable Rate Note for such Interest Period on the last day of such Interest Period.

(vi) For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that the Rate of Interest in relation to any Interest 
Period is less than zero, the Rate of Interest in relation to such Interest Period shall be 
equal to zero.

(d)  Defi nitions

 As used in these Conditions:

 “Benchmark” means the rate specifi ed as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

 “Business Day” means, in respect of each Note, (a) a day (other than a Saturday or 
Sunday) on which the Depository, as applicable, are operating, (b) a day on which 
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in the country of 
the Fiscal Agent’s specifi ed offi ce and (c) (if a payment is to be made on that day) (i) (in 
the case of Notes denominated in Singapore Dollars) a day on which banks and foreign 
exchange markets are open for general business in Singapore, (ii) (in the case of Notes 
denominated in Euros) a day on which the TARGET System is open for settlement in 
Euros and (iii) (in the case of Notes denominated in a currency other than Singapore 
Dollars and Euros) a day on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for 
general business in the principal fi nancial centre for that currency;

 “Calculation Amount” means the amount specifi ed as such on the face of any Note, or 
if no such amount is so specifi ed, the Denomination Amount of such Note as shown on 
the face thereof;

 “Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be 
specifi ed as the Interest Commencement Date on the face of such Note;

 “Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Period, that number of 
Business Days prior thereto as is set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement or on the 
face of the relevant Note;
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 “Primary Source” means the Screen Page specifi ed as such in the applicable Pricing 
Supplement and (in the case of any Screen Page provided by any information service other 
than the Bloomberg agency or the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (“Reuters”)) 
agreed to by the Agent Bank;

 
 “Reference Banks” means the institutions specifi ed as such hereon or, if none, three 

major banks selected by the Agent Bank in the interbank market that is most closely 
connected with the Benchmark;

 “Relevant Currency” means the currency in which the Notes are denominated;

 “Relevant Dealer” means, in respect of any Variable Rate Note, the Dealer party to 
the Programme Agreement referred to in the Agency Agreement with whom the Issuer 
has concluded or is negotiating an agreement for the issue of such Variable Rate Note 
pursuant to the Programme Agreement;

 “Relevant Financial Centre” means, in the case of interest to be determined on an 
Interest Determination Date with respect to any Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate 
Note, the fi nancial centre with which the relevant Benchmark is most closely connected 
or, if none is so connected, Singapore;

 “Relevant Rate” means the Benchmark for a Calculation Amount of the Relevant Currency 
for a period (if applicable or appropriate to the Benchmark) equal to the relevant Interest 
Period;

 “Relevant Time” means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time 
in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered 
rates in respect of deposits in the Relevant Currency in the interbank market in the 
Relevant Financial Centre;

 “Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular 
information service (including, but not limited to, the Bloomberg agency and Reuters) 
as may be specifi ed hereon for the purpose of providing the Benchmark, or such other 
page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service 
or on such other information service, in each case as may be nominated by the person 
or organisation providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose 
of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Benchmark;

 “Singapore Dollar(s)” and “S$” mean the lawful currency of Singapore; and

 “TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement 
Express Transfer (known as TARGET 2) System which was launched on 19 November 
2007 or any successor thereto.

(III) Calculations

(a) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts and 
Redemption Amounts
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 The Agent Bank will, as soon as practicable after the Relevant Time on each Interest 
Determination Date determine the Rate of Interest and calculate the amount of interest 
payable (the “Interest Amounts”) in respect of each Calculation Amount of the relevant 
Floating Rate Notes or Variable Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period. The Interest 
Amounts shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the 
Calculation Amount, by the Day Count Fraction shown on the face of such Note and 
rounding the resultant fi gure to the nearest sub-unit of the Relevant Currency. The 
determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of 
each determination or calculation by the Agent Bank shall (in the absence of manifest 
error) be fi nal and binding upon all parties.

(b) Notifi cation

 The Agent Bank will cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest 
Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notifi ed to the Fiscal Agent, the 
Issuer and each of the Paying Agents as soon as possible after their determination but in 
no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. In the case of Floating Rate Notes, 
the Agent Bank will also cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each 
Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notifi ed to Noteholders in 
accordance with Condition 13 as soon as possible after their determination. The Interest 
Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so notifi ed may subsequently be amended (or 
appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the 
event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period by reason of any Interest 
Payment Date not being a Business Day. If the Floating Rate Notes or, as the case may 
be, Variable Rate Notes become due and payable under Condition 8, the Rate of Interest 
and Interest Amounts payable in respect of the Floating Rate Notes or, as the case may 
be, Variable Rate Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in 
accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest and Interest 
Amounts need to be made (other than to the Noteholders at their request).

(c) Agent Bank and Reference Banks

 The Issuer will procure that, so long as any Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note 
remains outstanding, there shall at all times be three Reference Banks (or such other 
number as may be required) and, so long as any Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate 
Note remains outstanding, there shall at all times be an Agent Bank. If any Reference 
Bank (acting through its relevant offi ce) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a 
Reference Bank or the Agent Bank is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Agent 
Bank fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for any Interest Period or to calculate 
the Interest Amounts, the Issuer will appoint another bank with an offi ce in the Relevant 
Financial Centre to act as such in its place. The Agent Bank may not resign its duties 
without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

4. Redemption and Purchase

(a) Final Redemption

 Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, this Note 
will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date shown on its face (if 
this Note is shown on its face to be a Fixed Rate Note) or on the Interest Payment Date 
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falling in the Redemption Month shown on its face (if this Note is shown on its face to be 
a Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note).

(b) Purchase at the Option of Issuer

 If so provided hereon, the Issuer shall have the option to purchase all or any of the Fixed 
Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes or Variable Rate Notes at their Redemption Amount on 
any date on which interest is due to be paid on such Notes and the Noteholders shall be 
bound to sell such Notes to the Issuer accordingly. To exercise such option, the Issuer 
shall give irrevocable notice to the Noteholders within the Issuer’s Purchase Option 
Period shown on the face hereof. Such Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to any 
Paying Agent for cancellation. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the 
Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall 
not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of 
the Noteholders or for the purposes of Conditions 8 and 9.

 In the case of a purchase of some only of the Notes, the notice to Noteholders shall also 
contain the certifi cate numbers of the Notes to be purchased, which shall have been 
drawn by or on behalf of the Issuer in such place and in such manner as may be fair and 
reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject 
to compliance with any applicable laws. So long as the Notes are listed on any Stock 
Exchange (as defi ned in the Agency Agreement), the Issuer shall comply with the rules 
of such Stock Exchange in relation to the publication of any purchase of Notes.

(c) Purchase at the Option of Noteholders

(i) Each Noteholder shall have the option to have all or any of his Variable Rate Notes 
purchased by the Issuer at their Redemption Amount on any Interest Payment Date and 
the Issuer will purchase such Variable Rate Notes accordingly. To exercise such option, a 
Noteholder shall deposit any Variable Rate Notes to be purchased with any Paying Agent 
at its specifi ed offi ce (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Certifi cate representing such 
Variable Rate Notes with the Issuer at its head offi ce or at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent 
(in the case of Registered Notes) together with all Coupons relating to such Variable 
Rate Notes which mature after the date fi xed for purchase (in the case of Bearer Notes), 
together with a duly completed option exercise notice in the form obtainable from any 
Paying Agent or the Issuer (as applicable) within the Noteholders’ VRN Purchase Option 
Period shown on the face hereof. Any Variable Rate Notes or Certifi cates so deposited 
may not be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior 
consent of the Issuer. Such Variable Rate Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to 
any Paying Agent for cancellation. The Variable Rate Notes so purchased, while held 
by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the 
Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating 
quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Conditions 8 and 9.

(ii) If so provided hereon, each Noteholder shall have the option to have all or any of his 
Fixed Rate Notes or Floating Rate Notes purchased by the Issuer at their Redemption 
Amount on any date on which interest is due to be paid on such Notes and the Issuer will 
purchase such Notes accordingly. To exercise such option, a Noteholder shall deposit 
any Notes to be purchased with any Paying Agent at its specifi ed offi ce (in the case of 
Bearer Notes) or the Certifi cate representing such Fixed Rate Notes or Floating Rate 
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Notes with the Issuer at its head offi ce or at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent (in the case 
of Registered Notes) together with all Coupons relating to such Notes which mature 
after the date fi xed for purchase (in the case of Bearer Notes), together with a duly 
completed option exercise notice in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent or the 
Issuer (as applicable) within the Noteholders’ Purchase Option Period shown on the 
face hereof. Any Notes or Certifi cates so deposited may not be withdrawn (except as 
provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. Such Notes 
may be held, resold or surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation. The Notes so 
purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote 
at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the 
purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of 
Conditions 8 and 9.

(iii) If, as a result of any amendment to the Housing and Development Act, Chapter 129 of 
Singapore or any other statute, the Issuer ceases to be an authority or body established 
by written law to discharge functions of a public nature or the Notes cease to be the 
obligations of the Issuer and any such event would materially and adversely affect the 
interests of the Noteholders, the Issuer will, at the option of the holder of any Note, 
purchase such Note at its Redemption Amount (together with interest accrued to (but 
excluding) the date fi xed for purchase) on the date falling 30 days from the date of 
the exercise by the holder of such option. The Issuer will give prompt notice to the 
Noteholders of the occurrence of the event referred to in this Condition 4(c)(iii) in 
accordance with Condition 13. To exercise such option, a Noteholder shall deposit any 
Notes to be purchased with any Paying Agent at its specifi ed offi ce (in the case of Bearer 
Notes) or the Certifi cate representing such Notes with the Issuer at its head offi ce or 
at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent (in the case of Registered Notes) together with all 
Coupons relating to such Notes which mature after the date fi xed for purchase (in the 
case of Bearer Notes), together with a duly completed option exercise notice in the form 
obtainable from any Paying Agent or the Issuer (as applicable), no later than 10 Business 
Days from the date of the Issuer’s notice to the Noteholders of the occurrence of such 
event (or such longer period, not exceeding 30 Business Days, as the Issuer may notify 
to the Noteholders in such notice). Any Notes or Certifi cates so deposited may not be 
withdrawn. Such Notes may be held, resold or surrendered to any Paying Agent for 
cancellation. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not 
entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to 
be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders 
or for the purposes of Conditions 8 and 9.

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

 If so provided hereon, the Issuer may, on giving irrevocable notice to the Noteholders 
falling within the Issuer’s Redemption Option Period shown on the face hereof, redeem 
all or, if so provided, some of the Notes at their Redemption Amount or integral multiples 
thereof and on the date or dates so provided. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at 
their Redemption Amount, together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fi xed 
for redemption.

 All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date 
specifi ed in such notice in accordance with this Condition.
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 In the case of a partial redemption of the Notes, the notice to Noteholders shall also 
contain the certifi cate numbers of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been 
drawn by or on behalf of the Issuer in such place and in such manner as may be fair and 
reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject 
to compliance with any applicable laws. So long as the Notes are listed on any Stock 
Exchange, the Issuer shall comply with the rules of such Stock Exchange in relation to 
the publication of any redemption of such Notes.

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders

 If so provided hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note, redeem such 
Note on the date or dates so provided at its Redemption Amount, together with interest 
accrued to (but excluding) the date fi xed for redemption. To exercise such option, the 
holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with all unmatured 
Coupons) with any Paying Agent at its specifi ed offi ce or (in the case of Registered 
Notes) the Certifi cate representing such Note with the Issuer at its head offi ce or at 
the specifi ed offi ce of its agent, together with a duly completed option exercise notice 
in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent or the Issuer (as applicable) within the 
Noteholders’ Redemption Option Period shown on the face hereof. No Note or Certifi cate 
so deposited may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without 
the prior consent of the Issuer.

(f) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

 If so provided hereon, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, 
but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so specifi ed hereon, at any time on 
giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which notice 
shall be irrevocable), at their Redemption Amount (together with interest accrued to (but 
excluding) the date fi xed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay 
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 6, or increase the payment of 
such additional amounts, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws (or any 
regulations, rulings or other administrative pronouncements promulgated thereunder) of 
Singapore or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to 
tax, or any change in the application or offi cial interpretation of such laws, regulations, 
rulings or other administrative pronouncements, which change or amendment is made 
public on or after the Issue Date or any other date specifi ed in the Pricing Supplement, 
and (ii) such obligations cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures 
available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 
days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional 
amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of 
any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal 
Agent a certifi cate signed by a duly authorised offi cer of the Issuer stating that the Issuer 
is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that 
the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an 
opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer 
has or is likely to become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such 
change or amendment.
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(g) Purchases

 The Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries (if any) may at any time purchase Notes at any 
price (provided that they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons relating to 
them) in the open market or otherwise, provided that in any such case such purchase or 
purchases is in compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives.

 Notes purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (if any) may be surrendered by 
the purchaser through the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent for cancellation or may at the option 
of the Issuer or relevant Subsidiary (if any) be held or resold.

 For the purposes of these Conditions, “directive” includes any present or future directive, 
regulation, request, requirement, rule or credit restraint programme of any relevant 
agency, authority, central bank department, government, legislative, minister, ministry, 
offi cial public or statutory corporation, self-regulating organisation, or stock exchange.

(h) Cancellation

 All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (if any) may 
be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such 
Note together with all unmatured Coupons to the Fiscal Agent at its specifi ed offi ce and, 
in the case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certifi cate representing such Notes 
to the Issuer at its head offi ce or at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent and, in each case, if so 
surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith 
(together with all unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any 
Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold.

5. Payments

(a) Principal and Interest

(i) Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes will, subject as 
mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant 
Bearer Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, at the specifi ed offi ce of any 
Paying Agent by a cheque drawn in the currency in which payment is due on, or, 
at the option of the holders, by transfer to an account maintained by the payee 
in that currency with, a bank in the principal fi nancial centre for that currency.

(ii) (1) Payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against 
presentation and surrender of the relevant Certifi cates representing such Notes at the 
head offi ce of the Issuer or at the specifi ed offi ce of its agent and in the manner provided 
in Condition 5(a)(ii)(2).

 (2) Interest on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register 
at the close of business on the seventh Business Day before the due date for payment 
thereof (the “Record Date”). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be 
made in the currency in which such payments are due by cheque drawn on a bank in 
the principal fi nancial centre for the currency concerned and mailed to the holder (or to 
the fi rst named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. 
Upon application by the holder to the head offi ce of the Issuer or the specifi ed offi ce of its 
agent before the Record Date and subject as provided in Condition 5(b), such payment 
of interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by 
the payee with a bank in the principal fi nancial centre for that currency.
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(b) Payments subject to law etc.

 All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fi scal or other laws, regulations 
and directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6. No commission 
or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such 
payments.

(c) Appointment of Agents

 The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent and the Agent Bank initially appointed by the Issuer 
and their respective specifi ed offi ces are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right at 
any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any Paying Agent or 
the Agent Bank and to appoint additional or other Fiscal Agents, Paying Agents or Agent 
Banks, provided that it will at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Paying Agent 
having a specifi ed offi ce in Singapore and (iii) an Agent Bank where the Conditions so 
require.

 Notice of any such change or any change of any specifi ed offi ce will promptly be given 
to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

(d) Unmatured Coupons

(i) Bearer Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes should be surrendered for payment 
together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, failing which an 
amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case 
of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing 
unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal 
due) will be deducted from the Redemption Amount due for payment. Any amount 
so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of 
such missing Coupon within a period of fi ve years from the Relevant Date for the 
payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant 
to Condition 7).

(ii) Subject to the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement, upon the due date 
for redemption of any Bearer Note which is a Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate 
Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Bearer Note (whether or not attached) 
shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

(iii) Where any Bearer Note which is a Floating Rate Note or Variable Rate Note 
is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons relating to it, redemption 
shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may 
require.

(iv) If the due date for redemption or repayment of any Note is not a due date for 
payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of 
interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be 
payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Note or, 
as the case may be, Certifi cate representing it.

(e) Non-Business Days

 Subject as provided in the relevant Pricing Supplement or subject as otherwise provided 
in these Conditions, if any date for the payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is 
not a Business Day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following 
Business Day and shall not be entitled to any further interest or payment in respect of 
any such delay.
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(f) Default Interest
 
 If on or after the due date for payment of any sum in respect of the Notes, payment of 

all or any part of such sum shall not be made against due presentation of the Notes 
or, as the case may be, the Coupons, the Issuer shall pay interest on the amount so 
unpaid from such due date up to (but excluding) the day of actual receipt by the relevant 
Noteholders or, as the case may be, Couponholders (as well after as before judgment) at 
a rate per annum determined by the Fiscal Agent to be equal to one per cent. per annum 
above (in the case of a Fixed Rate Note) the Interest Rate applicable to such Note, (in 
the case of a Floating Rate Note) the Rate of Interest applicable to such Note or (in the 
case of a Variable Rate Note) the variable rate by which the Agreed Yield applicable to 
such Note is determined or, as the case may be, the Rate of Interest applicable to such 
Note. So long as the default continues then such rate shall be re-calculated on the same 
basis at intervals of such duration as the Fiscal Agent may select, save that the amount 
of unpaid interest at the above rate accruing during the preceding such period shall be 
added to the amount in respect of which the Issuer is in default and itself bear interest 
accordingly. Interest at the rate(s) determined in accordance with this paragraph shall 
be calculated on the Day Count Fraction shown on the face of the Note and the actual 
number of days elapsed, shall accrue on a daily basis and shall be immediately due and 
payable by the Issuer.

6. Taxation

 All payments in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by the Issuer shall be made free 
and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for or on account of, any present or 
future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, 
levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within Singapore or any authority thereof or 
therein having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In 
such event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in the receipt by the 
Noteholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by 
them had no such deduction or withholding been required, except that no such additional 
amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note or Coupon presented for payment:

(a) by or on behalf of a holder who is subject to such taxes, duties, assessments or 
governmental charges by reason of his being connected with Singapore otherwise 
than by reason only of the holding of such Note or Coupon or the receipt of any 
sums due in respect of such Note or Coupon (including, without limitation, the 
holder being a resident of, or having a permanent establishment in, Singapore); or

(b) more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder 
thereof would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the 
same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days.

 As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date” in respect of any Note or Coupon 
means the date on which payment in respect thereof fi rst becomes due or (if any 
amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which 
payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date falling 
seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance 
with Condition 13 that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relative Certifi cate) 
or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be 
made, provided that payment is in fact made upon presentation, and references 
to “principal” shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the 
Notes, all Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal 
payable pursuant to Condition 4, “interest” shall be deemed to include all Interest 
Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 3 and any reference 
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to “principal” and/or “premium” and/or “Redemption Amounts” and/or “interest” 
shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable under 
these Conditions.

7. Prescription

 Claims against the Issuer for payment, whether in respect of principal, interest or 
otherwise, in respect of the Notes and Coupons shall be prescribed and become void 
unless made within fi ve years from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

8. Events of Default

 If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) occurs and is continuing, the holder 
of any Note may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent that such Note is immediately 
repayable, whereupon the Redemption Amount of such Note together with accrued 
interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable:

(a) the Issuer fails to pay the principal of (whether becoming due upon redemption or 
otherwise) or any interest on any of the Notes of any Series when due, and such 
default continues for a period of seven Business Days; or

(b) the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of or compliance with any 
of its other obligations set out in any of the Notes of any Series or the Agency 
Agreement which default is incapable of remedy or, if capable of remedy, is not 
remedied within 30 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the 
Issuer by any holder thereof; or

(c) (i)  any other present or future indebtedness (in an aggregate amount of not less 
than S$30,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies)) of 
the Issuer for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes due and 
payable prior to its stated maturity otherwise than at the option of the Issuer 
or any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within 
any applicable grace period; or

 
 (ii) the Issuer fails to pay when due any amount (in an aggregate amount of not 

less than S$30,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies)) 
payable by it under any present or future guarantee for any moneys borrowed 
or raised; or

(d) any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, 
created or assumed by the Issuer over the whole or any substantial part of the 
undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer is enforced; or

(e) it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its 
obligations under any of the Notes of any Series, any of the Coupons or the Agency 
Agreement; or

(f) any action, condition or thing (including obtaining or effecting of any necessary 
consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, fi ling, licence, order, recording 
or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfi lled or done in order (i) to 
enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into and perform and comply with its obligations 
under the Notes, the Coupons and/or the Agency Agreement, (ii) to ensure that 
those obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes, 
the Coupons and the Agency Agreement admissible in evidence in the courts of 
Singapore is not taken, fulfi lled or done; or
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(g) a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of all or any material part of the 
indebtedness of the Issuer or the Government of Singapore or any court or other 
authority in Singapore takes any action for the distribution of the assets of the 
Issuer or any material part thereof among any creditors of the Issuer.

9. Meeting of Noteholders and Modifi cations

 The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders 
of a Series to consider any matter affecting their interests, including modifi cation by 
Extraordinary Resolution (as defi ned in the Agency Agreement) of the Notes of such 
Series (including these Conditions insofar as the same may apply to the Notes).

 Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than ten per cent. 
in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any 
meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons 
holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Notes for the time being 
outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing 
Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the 
business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals by the Issuer, inter alia, 
(a) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes or any date for payment of 
interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (b) to reduce or cancel the principal amount 
of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (c) to reduce the rate or rates 
of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or 
rates of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, 
(d) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Redemption Amount, (e) to vary 
the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, (f) to take any 
steps that as specifi ed hereon may only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary 
Resolution to which the special quorum provisions apply, or (g) to modify the provisions 
concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required 
to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum shall be two 
or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent., or at any adjourned 
meeting not less than 25 per cent., in principal amount of the Notes for the time being 
outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders 
(whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) 
and on all Couponholders. For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer is not bound by any 
modifi cation to any of these Conditions unless the Issuer has agreed to such modifi cation.

 These Conditions may be amended, modifi ed, or varied in relation to any Series of Notes 
by the terms of the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

10. Replacement of Notes, Certifi cates and Coupons

 If a Note, Certifi cate or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be 
replaced, subject to applicable laws, at the specifi ed offi ce of any Paying Agent (in the 
case of Bearer Notes or Coupons) or at the head offi ce of the Issuer or at the specifi ed 
offi ce of its agent (in the case of Certifi cates), or at the specifi ed offi ce of such other Paying 
Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice 
of whose designation is given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 in each 
case, on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith 
and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, 
that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certifi cate or Coupon is subsequently 
presented for payment, there will be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable 
by the Issuer in respect of such Note, Certifi cate or Coupon) and otherwise as the Issuer 
may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certifi cates or Coupons must be surrendered 
before replacements will be issued.



46

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

11. Further Issues

 The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders 
create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes of any 
Series and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with such 
Notes, and references in these Conditions to “Notes” shall be construed accordingly.

12. Fiscal Agent, Paying Agents and Agent Bank

 In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents and the 
Agent Bank act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or 
relationship of agency or trust for or with any holder except that (without affecting the 
obligations of the Issuer to the holders to make payment in respect of the Notes and 
Coupons in accordance with their terms) any funds received by the Fiscal Agent for the 
payment of any amounts in respect of the Notes or Coupons shall be held by it in trust for 
the relevant holders until the expiration of the period of prescription specifi ed in Condition 
7.

 The Agency Agreement may be amended by the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent, without 
the consent of the Paying Agents or the Agent Bank or any holder, for the purpose of 
curing any ambiguity or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision 
contained therein or in any manner which the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent may mutually 
deem necessary or desirable and which does not, in the opinion of the Issuer and the 
Fiscal Agent, adversely affect the interests of the holders in any material respect.

13. Notices

 Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes will be valid if published in a daily newspaper in 
the English language of general circulation in Singapore (or, if the holders of any Series 
of Notes can be identifi ed, notices to such holders will also be valid if they are given to 
each of such holders). Notices will, if published more than once or on different dates, 
be deemed to have been given on the date of the fi rst publication in such newspaper as 
provided above. Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the 
contents of any notice to the holders in accordance with this Condition. Notices to the 
holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the 
Register (in the case of joint holders to the address of the holder whose name stands 
fi rst in the Register) and deemed to have been given on the second day after the date of 
despatch.

 Until such time as any defi nitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as the Global 
Note(s) or, as the case may be, the Global Certifi cate(s) is or are held in its or their entirety 
on behalf of the Depository, be substituted for such publication in such newspapers the 
delivery of the relevant notice to the Depository for communication by it to the Noteholders, 
except that if the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of such exchange so 
require, notice will in any event be published in accordance with the previous paragraph. 
Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the seventh 
day after the day on which the said notice was given to the Depository.

 Notices to be given by any Noteholder pursuant hereto (including to the Issuer) shall be 
in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relative Note or Notes, with 
the Fiscal Agent. Whilst the Notes are represented by a Global Note or, as the case may 
be, a Global Certifi cate, such notice may be given by any Noteholder to the Fiscal Agent 
through the Depository in such manner as the Fiscal Agent and the Depository may 
approve for this purpose.
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 Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Condition, in any case where the identity and 
addresses of all the Noteholders are known to the Issuer, notices to such holders may 
be given individually by recorded delivery mail to such addresses and will be deemed to 
have been given when received at such addresses.

14. Currency Indemnity

 Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment 
under the relevant Note or Coupon is due (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement 
of, a judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction, in the dissolution of the Issuer or 
otherwise) by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be 
due to it from the Issuer shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the 
amount in the currency of payment under the relevant Note or Coupon that the recipient 
is able to purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on 
the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on 
that date, on the fi rst date on which it is practicable to do so or, in the case of a dissolution 
or analogous process of the Issuer, at the rate of exchange on the latest date permitted 
by applicable law for the determination of liabilities in such dissolution or analogous 
process). If the amount received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be 
due to the recipient under any Note or Coupon, the Issuer shall indemnify it against any 
loss sustained by it as a result. In any event, the Issuer shall indemnify the recipient 
against the cost of making any such purchase. For the purposes of this Condition, it shall 
be suffi cient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, as the case may be, to demonstrate 
that it would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been made. These indemnities 
constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer’s other obligations, 
shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective 
of any indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full 
force and effect despite any other judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount 
in respect of any sum due under any Note or Coupon or any other judgment or order.

15. Governing Law

 The Notes and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
the laws of Singapore.
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The Programme Agreement provides for Notes to be offered from time to time through one or 
more Dealers. The price at which a Series or Tranche will be issued will be determined prior 
to its issue between HDB and the relevant Dealer(s). The obligations of the Dealers under 
the Programme Agreement will be subject to certain conditions set out in the Programme 
Agreement. Each Dealer (acting as principal) will subscribe or procure subscribers for Notes 
from HDB pursuant to the Programme Agreement.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and the Notes 
may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefi t of, 
U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation S 
under the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered 
within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain 
transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings 
given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations 
thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 
required to agree that, except as permitted by the Programme Agreement, it will not offer, sell 
or deliver the Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after 
the completion of the distribution of an identifi able tranche of which such Notes are a part, as 
determined and certifi ed to the Issuer and each relevant Dealer by such Dealer (or, in the case 
of an identifi able tranche of Notes sold to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such 
Dealers with respect to Notes of an identifi able tranche purchased by or through it, in which 
case the Fiscal Agent shall notify such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certifi ed), within 
the United States or to, or for the account or benefi t of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to 
each Dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confi rmation or 
other notice setting out the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States 
or to, or for the account or benefi t of, U.S. persons.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any identifi able tranche of 
Notes, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer that is not participating 
in the offering of such Notes may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged that this Information Memorandum has not been and will 
not be registered as a prospectus with the MAS. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented, 
warranted and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made 
the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or 
cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has 
not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Information Memorandum or 
any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription 
or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than 
(i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person pursuant 
to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the 
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conditions specifi ed in Section 275, of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance 
with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

General

Each Dealer understands that no action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a 
public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Information Memorandum 
or any other document or any Pricing Supplement, in any country or jurisdiction where action 
for that purpose is required.

Each issue of Notes shall be subject to such additional selling restrictions as may be agreed 
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and each Dealer has undertaken that it will at all 
times comply with all such selling restrictions.

Each Dealer has agreed that it will comply with all laws, regulations and directives in each 
jurisdiction in which it subscribes for, purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or any interest 
therein or rights in respect thereof or has in its possession or distributes, any other document 
or any Pricing Supplement. No Dealer will directly or indirectly offer, sell or deliver Notes 
or any interest therein or rights in respect thereof or distribute or publish any prospectus, 
circular, advertisement or other offering material (including, without limitation, this Information 
Memorandum) in any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in 
compliance with any applicable laws and regulations, and all offers, sales and deliveries of 
Notes or any interest therein or rights in respect thereof by it will be made on the foregoing 
terms. In connection with the offer, sale or delivery by any Dealer of any Notes or any interest 
therein or rights in respect thereof, HDB shall not have responsibility for, and each Dealer will 
obtain, any consent, approval or permission required in, and each Dealer will comply with the 
laws and regulations in force in, any jurisdiction to which it is subject or from which it may make 
any such offer or sale.

Any person who may be in doubt as to the restrictions set out in the SFA or the laws, regulations 
and directives in each jurisdiction in which it subscribes for, purchases, offers, sells or delivers 
the Notes or any interest therein or rights in respect thereof and the consequences arising from 
a contravention thereof should consult his own professional advisers and should make his 
own inquiries as to the laws, regulations and directives in force or applicable in any particular 
jurisdiction at any relevant time.

SUBSCRIPTION, PURCHASE AND DISTRIBUTION
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Introduction

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP in Singapore, clearance will be 
effected through an electronic book-entry clearance and settlement system for the trading of 
debt securities (the “Depository System”) maintained by CDP. Notes that are to be listed on 
the SGX-ST may be cleared through CDP.

CDP

CDP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Singapore Exchange Limited, is incorporated under the 
laws of Singapore and acts as a depository and clearing organisation. CDP holds securities 
for its accountholders and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions 
between accountholders through electronic book-entry changes in the securities accounts 
maintained by such accountholders with CDP.

Clearance and Settlement under the Depository System

In respect of Notes which are accepted for clearance by CDP, the entire issue of the Notes 
is to be held by CDP in the form of a global note for persons holding the Notes in securities 
accounts with CDP (the “Depositors”). Delivery and transfer of Notes between Depositors is 
by electronic book-entries in the records of CDP only, as refl ected in the securities accounts 
of Depositors. Although CDP encourages settlement on the third business day following the 
trade date of debt securities, market participants may mutually agree on a different settlement 
period if necessary.

Settlement of over-the-counter trades in the Notes through the Depository System may only 
be effected through certain corporate depositors (the “Depository Agents”) approved by CDP 
under the Companies Act to maintain securities sub-accounts and to hold the Notes in such 
securities sub-accounts for themselves and their clients. Accordingly, Notes for which trade 
settlement is to be effected through the Depository System must be held in securities sub-
accounts with Depository Agents. Depositors holding Notes in direct securities accounts with 
CDP, and who wish to trade Notes through the Depository System, must transfer the Notes to 
be traded from such direct securities accounts to a securities sub-account with a Depository 
Agent for trade settlement.

General

CDP is not involved in money settlement between Depository Agents (or any other persons) 
as CDP is not a counterparty in the settlement of trades of debt securities. However, CDP will 
make payment of interest and repayment of principal on behalf of issuers of debt securities.

Although CDP has established procedures to facilitate transfer of interests in the Notes in 
global form among Depositors, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform 
such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of HDB, the 
Fiscal Agent or any other agent will have the responsibility for the performance by CDP of its 
obligations under the rules and procedures governing its operations.

CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT
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The statements below are general in nature and are based on certain aspects of current tax 
laws in Singapore, and administrative guidelines and circulars issued by MAS in force as 
at the date of this Information Memorandum and are subject to any changes in such laws, 
administrative guidelines or circulars, or the interpretation of those laws, guidelines or circulars, 
occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a retroactive basis. Neither these 
statements nor any other statements in this Information Memorandum are intended or are 
to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any holder of the Notes or of any person 
acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing with the Notes or on any tax implications arising from the 
acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect of the Notes. The statements made herein do not 
purport to be a comprehensive or exhaustive description of all the tax considerations that may 
be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and do not purport to deal 
with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as 
dealers in securities or fi nancial institutions in Singapore which have been granted the relevant 
Financial Sector Incentive(s)) may be subject to special rules or tax rates. Prospective holders 
of the Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the Singapore or other tax 
consequences of the acquisition, ownership of or disposal of the Notes, including, in particular, 
the effect of any foreign, state or local tax laws to which they are subject. It is emphasised that 
neither the Issuer nor any other persons involved in the Programme accepts responsibility for 
any tax effects or liabilities resulting from the subscription for, purchase, holding or disposal of 
the Notes.

1. Interest and Other Payments

Subject to the following paragraphs, under Section 12(6) of the Income Tax Act, the following 
payments are deemed to be derived from Singapore:

(a) any interest, commission, fee or any other payment in connection with any loan or 
indebtedness or with any arrangement, management, guarantee, or service relating to 
any loan or indebtedness which is (i) borne, directly or indirectly, by a person resident in 
Singapore or a permanent establishment in Singapore (except in respect of any business 
carried on outside Singapore through a permanent establishment outside Singapore 
or any immovable property situated outside Singapore) or (ii) deductible against any 
income accruing in or derived from Singapore; or

(b) any income derived from loans where the funds provided by such loans are brought into 
or used in Singapore.

Such payments, where made to a person not known to the paying party to be a resident in 
Singapore for tax purposes, are generally subject to withholding tax in Singapore. The rate at 
which tax is to be withheld for such payments (other than those subject to the 15 per cent. fi nal 
withholding tax described below) to non-resident persons (other than non-resident individuals) 
is currently 17 per cent. The applicable rate for non-resident individuals is currently 20 per 
cent. However, if the payment is derived by a person not resident in Singapore otherwise than 
from any trade, business, profession or vocation carried on or exercised by such person in 
Singapore and is not effectively connected with any permanent establishment in Singapore of 
that person, the payment is subject to a fi nal withholding tax of 15 per cent. The rate of 15 per 
cent. may be reduced by applicable tax treaties.

However, certain Singapore-sourced investment income derived by individuals from fi nancial 
instruments is exempt from tax, including:

(a) interest from debt securities derived on or after 1 January 2004;

(b) discount income (not including discount income arising from secondary trading) from 
debt securities derived on or after 17 February 2006; and

TAXATION 
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(c) prepayment fee, redemption premium and break cost from debt securities derived on or 
after 15 February 2007,

except where such income is derived through a partnership in Singapore or is derived from the 
carrying on of a trade, business or profession.

In addition, with respect to any tranche of the Notes issued as debt securities under the 
Programme (the “Relevant Notes”) during the period from the date of this Information 
Memorandum to 31 December 2018 where, pursuant to the Income Tax Act and the MAS 
Circular FSD Cir 02/2013 entitled “Extension and Refi nement of Tax Concessions for 
Promoting the Debt Market” (the “MAS Circular”) issued by MAS on 28 June 2013, more than 
half of the issue of such Relevant Notes are distributed by Financial Sector Incentive – Capital 
Market, Financial Sector Incentive – Standard Tier or Financial Sector Incentive – Bond Market 
companies, such tranche of Relevant Notes would be qualifying debt securities (“QDS”) for the 
purposes of the Income Tax Act, to which the following treatment applies:

(i) subject to certain prescribed conditions having been fulfi lled (including the furnishing of 
a return on debt securities for the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within such 
period as the relevant authorities may specify and such other particulars in connection 
with the Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities may require to the MAS and such 
other relevant authorities as may be prescribed and the inclusion by the Issuer in all 
offering documents relating to the Relevant Notes of a statement to the effect that where 
interest, discount income, break cost, prepayment fee or redemption premium from the 
Relevant Notes is derived by any person who is not resident in Singapore and who 
carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, 
the tax exemption for qualifying debt securities shall not apply if the non-resident person 
acquires the Relevant Notes using funds from that person’s operations through the 
Singapore permanent establishment), interest, discount income (not including discount 
income arising from secondary trading), break cost, prepayment fee and redemption 
premium (collectively, the “Qualifying Income”) from the Relevant Notes derived by 
a holder who is not resident in Singapore and who (aa) does not have any permanent 
establishment in Singapore or (bb) carries on any operation in Singapore through a 
permanent establishment in Singapore but the funds used by that person to acquire the 
Relevant Notes are not obtained from such person’s operation through a permanent 
establishment in Singapore, are exempt from Singapore tax;

(ii) subject to certain conditions having been fulfi lled (including the furnishing of a return 
on debt securities for the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within such period 
as the relevant authorities may specify and such other particulars in connection with 
the Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities may require to the MAS and such other 
relevant authorities as may be prescribed), Qualifying Income from the Relevant Notes 
derived by any company or body of persons (as defi ned in the Income Tax Act) in 
Singapore is subject to tax at a concessionary rate of 10 per cent. (except for holders of 
the relevant Financial Sector Incentive(s) who may be taxed at different rates); and

(iii) subject to:

(aa)  the Issuer including in all offering documents relating to the Relevant Notes a 
statement to the effect that any person whose interest, discount income, break 
cost, prepayment fee or redemption premium derived from the Relevant Notes is 
not exempt from tax shall include such income in a return of income made under 
the Income Tax Act; and

TAXATION 
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(bb)  the furnishing to the MAS and such other relevant authorities as may be prescribed 
of a return on debt securities for the Relevant Notes in the prescribed format within 
such period as the relevant authorities may specify and such other particulars in 
connection with the Relevant Notes as the relevant authorities may require,

 payments of Qualifying Income derived from the Relevant Notes are not subject to 
withholding of tax by the Issuer.

Notwithstanding the foregoing:

(A) if during the primary launch of any tranche of Relevant Notes, the Relevant Notes of 
such tranche are issued to fewer than four persons and 50 per cent. or more of the issue 
of such Relevant Notes is benefi cially held or funded, directly or indirectly, by related 
parties of the Issuer, such Relevant Notes would not qualify as QDS; and

(B) even though a particular tranche of Relevant Notes are QDS, if, at any time during the 
tenure of such tranche of Relevant Notes, 50 per cent. or more of the issue of such 
Relevant Notes is held benefi cially or funded, directly or indirectly, by any related 
party(ies) of the Issuer, Qualifying Income derived from such Relevant Notes held by:

(i) any related party of the Issuer; or

(ii) any other person where the funds used by such person to acquire such Relevant 
Notes are obtained, directly or indirectly, from any related party of the Issuer,

 shall not be eligible for the tax exemption or concessionary rate of tax as described 
above.

The term “related party”, in relation to a person, means any other person who, directly or 
indirectly, controls that person, or is controlled, directly or indirectly, by that person, or where 
he and that other person, directly or indirectly, are under the control of a common person.

The terms “break cost”, “prepayment fee” and “redemption premium” are defi ned in the 
Income Tax Act as follows:

“break cost”, in relation to debt securities and qualifying debt securities, means any 
fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, 
the amount of which is determined by any loss or liability incurred by the holder of the 
securities in connection with such redemption;

 “prepayment fee”, in relation to debt securities and qualifying debt securities, means any 
fee payable by the issuer of the securities on the early redemption of the securities, the 
amount of which is determined by the terms of the issuance of the securities; and

 “redemption premium”, in relation to debt securities and qualifying debt securities, means 
any premium payable by the issuer of the securities on the redemption of the securities 
upon their maturity.

References to “break cost”, “prepayment fee” and “redemption premium” in this Singapore tax 
disclosure have the same meaning as defi ned in the Income Tax Act.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the 
Qualifying Income) is derived from the Relevant Notes by any person who is not resident in 
Singapore and who carries on any operations in Singapore through a permanent establishment 
in Singapore, the tax exemption available for QDS under the Income Tax Act (as mentioned 
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above) shall not apply if such person acquires such Relevant Notes using the funds and profi ts 
of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment in Singapore. Any person 
whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost (i.e. the 
Qualifying Income) derived from the Relevant Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the 
reasons described above) shall include such income in a return of income made under the 
Income Tax Act.

Under the Qualifying Debt Securities Plus Scheme (“QDS Plus Scheme”), subject to certain 
conditions having been fulfi lled (including the furnishing of a return on debt securities in respect 
of the QDS  in the prescribed format within such period as the relevant authorities may specify 
and such other particulars in connection with the QDS as the relevant authorities may require 
to the MAS and such other relevant authorities as may be prescribed), income tax exemption 
is granted on Qualifying Income derived by any investor from QDS (excluding Singapore 
Government Securities) which:-

(a) are issued during the period from 16 February 2008 to 31 December 2018;

(b) have an original maturity of not less than 10 years;

(c) cannot be redeemed, called, exchanged or converted within 10 years from the date of 
their issue; and

(d) cannot be re-opened with a resulting tenure of less than 10 years to the original maturity 
date.

However, even if a particular tranche of the Relevant Notes are QDS which qualify under the 
QDS Plus Scheme, if, at any time during the tenure of such tranche of Relevant Notes, 50 per 
cent. or more of the issue of such Relevant Notes is held benefi cially or funded, directly or 
indirectly, by any related party(ies) of the Issuer, Qualifying Income from such Relevant Notes 
derived by:

(i) any related party of the Issuer; or

(ii) any other person where the funds used by such person to acquire such Relevant Notes 
are obtained, directly or indirectly, from any related party of the Issuer, 

shall not be eligible for the tax exemption under the QDS Plus Scheme as described above.

The MAS Circular states that, with effect from 28 June 2013, the QDS Plus Scheme will be 
refi ned to allow QDS with certain standard early termination clauses (as prescribed in the MAS 
Circular) to qualify for the QDS Plus Scheme at the point of issuance of such debt securities. 
The MAS has also clarifi ed that if such debt securities are subsequently redeemed prematurely 
pursuant to such standard early termination clauses before the 10th year from the date of 
issuance of such debt securities, the tax exemption granted under the QDS Plus Scheme 
to Qualifying Income accrued prior to such redemption will not be clawed back. Under such 
circumstances, the QDS Plus status of such debt securities will be revoked prospectively for 
such outstanding debt securities (if any), and holders thereof may still enjoy the tax benefi ts 
under the QDS Scheme if the QDS conditions continue to be met.

The MAS has stated that, notwithstanding the above, QDS with embedded options with 
economic value (such as call, put, conversion or exchange options which can be triggered 
at specifi ed prices or dates and are built into the pricing of such debt securities at the onset) 
which can be exercised within ten years from the date of issuance of such debt securities will 
continue to be excluded from the QDS Plus Scheme from such date of issuance.
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2. Capital Gains

Any gains considered to be in the nature of capital made from the sale of the Notes will not be 
taxable in Singapore. However, any gains derived by any person from the sale of the Notes 
which are gains from any trade, business, profession or vocation carried on by that person, if 
accruing in or derived from Singapore, may be taxable as such gains are considered revenue 
in nature.

Holders of the Notes who apply or are required to apply Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standard 39 (“FRS 39”) may for Singapore income tax purposes be required to recognise 
gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) on the Notes, irrespective of 
disposal, in accordance with FRS 39. Please see the section below on “Adoption of FRS 39 
treatment for Singapore income tax purposes”.

3. Adoption of FRS 39 treatment for Singapore income tax purposes

The Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore has issued a circular entitled “Income Tax 
Implications Arising from the Adoption of FRS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” (the “FRS 39 Circular”). The Income Tax Act has since been amended to give 
effect to the FRS 39 Circular.

The FRS 39 Circular generally applies, subject to certain “opt-out” provisions, to taxpayers 
who are required to comply with FRS 39 for fi nancial reporting purposes.

Holders of the Notes who may be subject to the tax treatment under the FRS 39 Circular 
should consult their own accounting and tax advisers regarding the Singapore income tax 
consequences of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes.

4. Estate Duty

Singapore estate duty has been abolished with respect to all deaths occurring on or after
15 February 2008.
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1. Issued Debentures

(a) Save as disclosed below, no debentures of HDB have been issued, or agreed or 
proposed to be issued, as fully or partly paid in cash or otherwise than in cash 
during the last two years preceding the date of this Information Memorandum:

Date of Issue Description of Debentures Issue Price Consideration

18 June 2012 S$500,000,000 1.52 per cent. Notes 
due 2019 (the “Series 044 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$500,000,000

27 June 2012 S$585,000,000 2.505 per cent. Notes 
due 2024 (the “Series 045 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$585,000,000

30 August 2012 S$450,000,000 1.11 per cent. Notes 
due 2017 (the “Series 046 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$450,000,000

30 August 2012 S$500,000,000 2.088 per cent. Notes 
due 2022 (the “Series 047 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$500,000,000

2 November 2012 S$600,000,000 0.76 per cent. Notes 
due 2015 (the “Series 048 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$600,000,000

30 January 2013 S$1,200,000,000 1.23 per cent. 
Notes due 2018 (the “Series 049 
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$1,200,000,000

21 March 2013 S$1,000,000,000 0.943 per cent. 
Notes due 2016 (the “Series 051 
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$1,000,000,000

29 May 2013 S$500,000,000 1.368 per cent. Notes 
due 2018 (the “Series 053 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$500,000,000

26 July 2013 S$520,000,000 1.165 per cent. Notes 
due 2016 (the “Series 054 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$520,000,000

19 September 2013 S$1,450,000,000 2.365 per cent. 
Notes due 2018 (the “Series 055 
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$1,450,000,000

13 November 2013 S$1,500,000,000 1.875 per cent. 
Notes due 2017 (the “Series 056 
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$1,500,000,000

29 January 2014 S$600,000,000 3.948 per cent. Notes 
due 2029 (the “Series 057 Notes”)

100 per cent. S$600,000,000

26 March 2014 S$750,000,000 3.008 per cent.
Notes due 2021 (the “Series 058
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$750,000,000

28 May 2014 S$675,000,000 2.223 per cent.
Notes due 2019 (the “Series 059
Notes”)

100 per cent. S$675,000,000
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(b) As at 2 June 2014, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this 
Information Memorandum, no person has been, or is entitled to be, given any 
option to subscribe for any debentures of HDB.

2. The Board and Management

The Board and management are entrusted with the responsibility for the overall 
management of HDB.

Members of the Board

The name and occupation of each of the Members are as follows:

Name Occupation

Mr James Koh Cher Siang Chairman
 HDB

Mr Matthias Yao Chih Director
 Agmonton Pte Ltd

Mr Tham Kui Seng Board Member
 HDB

Mrs Chng Sok Hui Chief Financial Offi cer
 DBS Bank Ltd

Ms Ong Toon Hui Deputy Secretary
 Ministry of Social and Family Development

Assoc Prof Yu Shi Ming Associate Professor
 Department of Real Estate
 School of Design & Environment 
 National University of Singapore

Dr Cheong Koon Hean Chief Executive Offi cer
 HDB

Mr Ong Chong Tee Deputy Managing Director
 Financial Supervision
 Monetary Authority of Singapore

Mr Tham Sai Choy Managing Partner
 KPMG LLP 

BG Tan Wei Ming, Mervyn Director Military Intelligence/Chief C4I
 Singapore Armed Forces
 Ministry of Defence

Mr Mohd Sa’at Abdul Rahman Editor
 Berita Harian/Berita Minggu
                                                Singapore Press Holdings Ltd
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Key Management Team

The name and appointment of each member of the key management team are as follows:

Name Appointment
Dr Cheong Koon Hean Chief Executive Offi cer
Yap Chin Beng Deputy Chief Executive Offi cer (Estate & Corporate)
Sng Cheng Keh Deputy Chief Executive Offi cer (Building)
Er. Lau Joo Ming Senior Advisor
Dr Johnny Wong Liang Heng Group Director (HDB Building Research Institute)
Fong Chun Wah Group Director (Development & Procurement)
Raymond Toh Chun Parng* Group Director (Research & Planning)
Thomas Seow Group Director (Building Quality)
Er. Yap Tiem Yew Group Director (Building & Infrastructure)
Tan Chew Ling Group Director (Estate Administration & Property)
Mike Chan Hein Wah Group Director (Housing Management)
Lau Chay Yean Group Director (Community Relations)
Loh Loon Tong** Group Director (Properties & Land)
Khoo Teng Seong Group Director (Industrial Properties)
Heng-Ng Mien Joo Acting Group Director (Corporate Development)
Lim Yuin Chien*** Group Director (Corporate Communications)
Audrey Leong Yue Yoke Group Director (Finance)
Leong Chin Yew Group Director (Information Services)
Balakrishna Madhubala Group Director (Legal)
Constance Ng- Yip Chew Ngoh Group Director (Internal Audit) 

* Dr Chong Fook Loong will assume the position of Group Director (Research & Planning) upon the retirement 
of Mr Raymond Toh Chun Parng on 22 September 2014.

** Ms Kee Lay Cheng will assume the position of Group Director (Properties & Land) upon the retirement of Mr 
Loh Loon Tong on 11 October 2014.

*** Ms Joyce Ng Swee Lin will assume the position of Group Director (Corporate Communications) upon the 
posting of Mr Lim Yuin Chien to Ministry of Finance on 1 July 2014.

3. Related Companies

 As at 2 June 2014, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Information 
Memorandum, the corporations which would be deemed to be related to HDB by virtue 
of the defi nition set out in Section 6 of the Companies Act are as follows:

(a) Subsidiary of the Issuer
 E M SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED

(b) Subsidiaries of E M SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
 E M PROPERTY MANAGEMENT PRIVATE LIMITED 
 PROPERTY INC. PRIVATE LIMITED
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4. Material Contracts

 There were no material contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary 
course of business) entered into by HDB within the two years preceding the date of this 
Information Memorandum.

 
5. Consents

 The Arranger and the Dealer, the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent and the Agent Bank, 
the Legal Adviser to the Programme, and the Auditors for the fi nancial year ended 31 
March 2013 have given and have not withdrawn their respective written consents to 
the issue of this Information Memorandum with the inclusion herein of their names and 
all references thereto, in the form and context in which they respectively appear in this 
Information Memorandum and, where applicable, reports in the form and context in which 
they appear in this Information Memorandum.

 
6. General

(a) The nature of the business of HDB is stated under “History and Business” of this 
Information Memorandum.

(b) As disclosed under “Use of Proceeds” of this Information Memorandum, HDB 
proposes to utilise the proceeds of the Notes to be issued under the Programme to 
fi nance the development programmes of HDB and its working capital requirements 
as well as to refi nance the existing borrowings.

 Save as disclosed above, no property has been, or is proposed to be, purchased 
or acquired by HDB which is to be paid for wholly or partly out of the proceeds 
of the Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme or the purchase or 
acquisition of which has not been completed at the date of issue of this Information 
Memorandum other than property the contract for the purchase or acquisition 
whereof was entered into in the ordinary course of HDB’s business, the contract 
not being made in contemplation of the issuance of such Notes nor the issuance of 
such Notes made in consequence of the contract.

(c) The limit which HDB may borrow under the Programme is S$32,000,000,000.

(d) HDB undertakes that it will appoint a Singapore paying agent in compliance with 
Rule 305 of the Listing Manual and announce all material information with regard 
to the delivery of the Notes in defi nitive form (including details of the Singapore 
paying agent) in the event that any of the Global Notes is exchanged for defi nitive 
Notes, for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST.

7. Documents Available for Inspection

 Copies of the following documents are available for inspection at the registered offi ce of 
HDB at HDB Hub, 480 Lorong 6 Toa Payoh, Singapore 310480 during normal business 
hours for a period of six months from the date of this Information Memorandum:

(a) the audited consolidated accounts of HDB and its subsidiaries for the last two 
fi nancial years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2013; and

(b) the letters of consent referred to in paragraph 5 above.
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The information in this Appendix has been reproduced from the audited consolidated accounts 
of HDB and its subsidiaries for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2013 and has not been 
specifi cally prepared for inclusion in this Information Memorandum.
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HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD

STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF THE 
HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD

In our opinion,

(a) the accompanying financial statements of the Housing and Development 
Board (“HDB”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Housing and Development Act (Cap. 129, 
2004 Revised Edition) (the “Act”) and Singapore Statutory Board Financial 
Reporting Standards so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state 
of affairs of the Group and the HDB as at 31 March 2013, and of the results, 
changes in capital and reserves of the Group and the HDB and cash flows of 
the Group for the financial year ended on that date;

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all 
assets of the HDB whether purchased, donated or otherwise; and

(c) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal 
of assets by the HDB during the year have been, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Constitution of the Republic 
of Singapore.

On behalf of the Board

JAMES KOH CHER SIANG
Chairman

DR CHEONG KOON HEAN
Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
30 May 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
THE BOARD OF THE HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Housing and 
Development Board (“HDB”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) which comprise 
the balance sheets of the Group and HDB as at 31 March 2013; the income and 
expenditure statements, the statements of comprehensive income and statements 
of changes in capital and reserves of the Group and HDB and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended; and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on  
pages 5 to 58.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Housing and Development Act (Cap. 129, 2004 Revised Edition)  
(the “Act”) and Singapore Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-
FRS”), and for such internal controls as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance 
sheet, income and expenditure statement, statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of changes in capital and reserves of HDB are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SB-FRS so as to present fairly, in 
all material respects, the state of affairs of the Group and HDB as at 31 March 
2013, and the results and changes in capital and reserves of the Group and HDB 
and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Management’s Responsibility for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements 

Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment 
of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act and the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore. 
This responsibility includes implementing accounting and internal controls as 
management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the provisions 
of the Act and the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based 
on our audit of the financial statements. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and performed the compliance 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, 
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore. 

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal controls 
relevant to the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and 
disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. Because of the 
inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, non-compliances 
may nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion on management’s compliance. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and 
disposal of assets by HDB during the year are, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Constitution of the Republic 
of Singapore; and

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all 
assets of HDB whether purchased, donated or otherwise. 

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

30 May 2013
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HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 MARCH 2013

 
    Group HDB

Note
31 March

 2013
31 March

 2012
31 March

 2013
31 March

 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 5 1 1 1 1
Capital account 5 2,468,100 2,468,100 2,463,600 2,463,600
Capital gains reserve 5 6,810,828 6,569,660 6,810,828 6,569,660
Asset revaluation reserve 5 5,604,592 5,637,624 5,604,592 5,637,624
Fair value reserve 6,630 4,417 0 0
Retained earnings  87,460  86,001  0  0

Attributable to Equity Holder of 
the HDB 14,977,611 14,765,803 14,879,021 14,670,885

Non-controlling interests  33,364  32,663  0  0

TOTAL EQUITY 15,010,975 14,798,466 14,879,021 14,670,885

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 6 16,683,778 16,049,262 16,675,160 16,037,908
Investment properties 7 4,845,232 4,784,726 4,829,482 4,768,721
Loans receivable 8 35,684,146 37,805,597 35,684,146 37,805,597
Investment in subsidiaries 9 0 0 1,500 1,500
Other investments 10 37,286 37,018 0 0
Deferred tax assets 11  2,628  2,541  0  0

Total non-current assets 57,253,070 58,679,144 57,190,288 58,613,726

CURRENT ASSETS
Properties under development 12 12,451,600 7,771,236 12,451,600 7,771,236
Properties for sale 13 1,213,219 1,719,917 1,213,219 1,719,917
Inventories of building materials 46,233 46,465 43,033 43,199
Loans receivable within 1 year 8 2,447,166 2,597,421 2,447,081 2,597,367
Government grant receivable 14 1,011,071 929,758 1,011,071 929,758
Trade and other receivables 15 1,125,030 1,185,097 1,096,988 1,153,597
Cash and bank balances 16  141,714  112,535  81,171  45,760

Total current assets 18,436,033 14,362,429 18,344,163 14,260,834

Less:
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans payable within 1 year 17 7,439,234 8,301,367 7,439,234 8,301,367
Trade and other payables 18 2,830,310 2,397,156 2,807,318 2,362,464
Amount due to subsidiary 0 0 502 1,160
Provision for income tax 11  4,208  5,900  0  0

Total current liabilities 10,273,752 10,704,423 10,247,054 10,664,991

NET CURRENT ASSETS  8,162,281  3,658,006  8,097,109  3,595,843
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HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 MARCH 2013 (continued)

 Group HDB

Note
31 March

 2013
31 March

 2012
31 March

 2013
31 March

 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans payable 17 49,522,736 46,709,320 49,526,736 46,709,320

Deferred income 19  881,640  829,364  881,640  829,364

Total non-current liabilities 50,404,376 47,538,684 50,408,376 47,538,684

NET ASSETS 15,010,975 14,798,466 14,879,021 14,670,885

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

JAMES KOH CHER SIANG
Chairman

AUDREY LEONG YUE YOKE
Group Director (Finance)

30 May 2013
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APPENDIX

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Group

Note 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net deficit before government grant and taxation (788,271) (427,166)

Adjustments for:

Interest income 20 (1,058,006) (1,128,120)

Interest expense 21 1,206,567 1,276,680

Depreciation 22 350,805 344,511

Additional/Special CPF Housing Grant netted off
 against sale proceeds on sale of the flat 26 103,555 80,646

Provision for foreseeable loss
 for properties under development/for sale 22 752,848 343,932

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment 22 0 1,566

Loss on disposal/write-off of assets (net) 5,933 6,285

Reversal of impairment losses on property,
 plant and equipment and investment properties (net) 22 (142,677) (172,559)

Allowance for impairment losses and amount
 written off on loans receivable and debtors 22 6,169 4,894

Amortisation of deferred income (112,379) (101,262)

Amortisation of transaction cost of bonds 21 2,642 881

Loss on disposal of investments 138 144

Investment income 20 (2,091) (1,908)

Loss on liquidation of associate 0 50 

Surplus before movement in working capital 325,233 228,574

(Increase)/Decrease in working capital:

Properties under development (7,607,027) (6,844,535)

Properties for sale 2,813,807 3,779,064

Inventories of building materials 232 66

Trade and other receivables (48,891) (404,433)

Trade and other payables 428,542 633,512

Late payment charges on loans receivable 1,714 879

(4,411,623) (2,835,447)

Mortgage loan repayments and interest received 6,553,638 6,549,188

Mortgage loans granted (3,226,730) (3,355,414)

Interest paid on mortgage financing loans (1,024,581) (1,002,669)

Income tax paid 11 (5,312) (4,403)

Deferred income received 169,616 160,977

Net cash used in operating activities (1,619,759) (259,194)
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APPENDIX

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Group

Note 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment,
 and investment properties 45,318 8,439

Purchase of property, plant and equipment,
 and investment properties (993,956) (784,805)

Interest received 324 413

Dividends received from other investments 2,091 1,908

Proceeds from redemption/disposal of other investments 13,781 5,904

Purchase of investments (11,237) (3,722)

Net cash used in investing activities (943,679) (771,863)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from loans payable 28,586,639 23,396,799

Repayment of loans payable (26,647,072) (23,719,055)

Interest paid (304,205) (294,906)

Net government grant received 961,600 1,651,365

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (4,000) (2,000)

Net cash from financing activities 2,592,962 1,032,203

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,524 1,146

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 97,339 96,193

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF YEAR 16 126,863 97,339

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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APPENDIX

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT BOARD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2013

1. GENERAL

 The Housing and Development Board (“HDB”) is a statutory board incorporated under the 
Housing and Development Act (Cap. 129, 2004 Revised Edition) (“Act”) under the purview of 
the Ministry of National Development (“MND”). As a statutory board, the HDB is subject to 
the directions of the MND and is required to implement policies and comply with instructions 
from its supervisory Ministry and other Government Ministries and Departments such as the 
Ministry of Finance (“MOF”).

 The address of the HDB is HDB Hub 480, Lorong 6 Toa Payoh, Singapore 310480. The financial 
statements are expressed in Singapore dollars, which is HDB’s functional currency, and rounded 
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

 The principal activities of the HDB consist of the sale and rental of residential flats, the upgrading 
and redevelopment of older estates, and the provision of mortgage loans to eligible purchasers 
of flats under the public housing schemes. In addition, the HDB develops and manages ancillary 
facilities such as commercial properties, industrial properties, car parks, and other amenities in 
the housing estates.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are detailed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

 The balance sheet, income and expenditure statement, statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of changes in capital and reserves of the HDB and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 were authorised for issue by members of its 
Board on 30 May 2013.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (a) Basis of Accounting and Adoption of New and Revised Standards

  The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost basis, except as disclosed in accounting policies below, and are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Statutory Board Financial Reporting  
Standards (“SB-FRS”) including related interpretations (“INT SB-FRS”) and Guidance Notes.

  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS — On 1 April 2012, the Group 
has adopted all the new and revised SB-FRSs, INT SB-FRSs and Guidance Notes that are 
relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised SB-FRSs, INT SB-FRSs and 
Guidance Notes does not result in changes to the HDB’s accounting policies and has no 
material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised SB-FRSs, 
INT SB-FRS and Amendments to SB-FRS that are relevant to the Group and HDB were 
issued but not effective:

Amendments relating to 
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”)

Consolidated Financial Statements and SB-FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements

Financial Instruments: Presentation and SB-FRS 107 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Fair Value Measurement
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APPENDIX

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (a) Basis of Accounting and Adoption of New and Revised Standards (continued)

  Management has considered and is of the view that the adoption of the SB-FRSs, INT  
SB-FRSs and Amendments to SB-FRSs that were issued at the date of authorisation of 
these financial statements but not effective until future periods will have no material impact 
on the financial statements in the period of their initial adoption, except for the following:

  SB-FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

  SB-FRS 113 is a single new standard that applies to both financial and non-financial items. It 
replaces the guidance on fair value measurement and related disclosures in other standards, 
with the exception of measurement dealt with under SB-FRS 102 Share-based Payment,  
SB-FRS 17 Leases, net realisable value in SB-FRS 2 Inventories and value-in-use in  
SB-FRS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

  SB-FRS 113 provides a common fair value definition and hierarchy applicable to the fair value 
measurement of assets, liabilities, and an entity’s own equity instruments within its scope, 
but does not change in the requirements in other standard regarding which items should be 
measured or disclosed at fair value.

  The disclosure requirements in SB-FRS 113 are more extensive than those required in 
the current standards. For example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the  
three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only under  
SB-FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by SB-FRS 113 to cover all 
assets and liabilities within its scope.

  SB-FRS 113 will be effective prospectively from annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2013. Comparative information is not required for periods before initial application. 

 (b) Basis of Consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the HDB and 
entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the HDB (its subsidiaries). Control 
is achieved where the HDB has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.

  All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on 
consolidation.

  Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
therein. The interest of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests 
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of 
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other types of 
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified 
in another SB-FRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests 
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share 
of subsequent changes in equity.

  Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

  In the HDB’s financial statements, investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less any 
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in the income and expenditure 
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (c) Financial Instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  Effective interest method

  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

  (i) Financial assets

   Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

   Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise fixed deposits and 
cash on hand and at bank that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

   Loans and receivables

   Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less impairment losses. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, 
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

   Held-to-maturity investments

   Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Group 
has a positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment losses.

   Available-for-sale investments

   Certain shares and debt securities held by the Group are classified as being available 
for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 10. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, which are recognised 
directly in the income and expenditure statement. Where the investment is disposed of 
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is included in the income and expenditure statement for the 
period. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income 
and expenditure statement when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

   Impairment of financial assets

   Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 

   For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of the investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 
For loans receivables and trade receivables, the impairment losses are provided based 
on the Group’s assessment of the financial status and past performance of the debtor, 
availability of collateral, among others.

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment is recognised in the income 
and expenditure statement for the period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (c) Financial Instruments (continued)

  (i) Financial assets (continued)

   The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for 
all financial assets with the exception of trade and loans receivable where the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised as operating expenses in the income and 
expenditure statement.

   With the exception of quoted equity securities that are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the 
income and expenditure statement to the extent the carrying amount of the investment 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been, had the impairment not been recognised.

   In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised 
in the income and expenditure statement are not reversed through the income and 
expenditure statement. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

   Derecognition of financial assets

   The Group derecognises a financial asset when, and only when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

  (ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

   Classification as debt or equity

   Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according 
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

   Equity instruments

   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of significant direct issue costs.

   Financial liabilities

   Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of significant transaction 
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

   The housing development loans, mortgage financing loans and upgrading financing loans 
are borrowed from the Singapore Government under the Agreements for Loan Facility.

   The mortgage financing loans and upgrading financing loans are obtained to finance the 
mortgage loans granted to lessees for purchase of flats under public housing schemes 
and the deferred payment scheme granted to lessees of upgraded flats. The housing 
development loans, bonds and bank loans are to finance the HDB’s development 
programmes and operational requirements. The MOF will act as the lender of last resort 
to HDB for its funding requirements.

   The loans payable are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of significant transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is 
recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policy for borrowing costs [Note 2(n)].
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (c) Financial Instruments (continued)

  (ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

   Derecognition of financial liabilities

   The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

 (d) Leases

  Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

  (i) The Group as lessor

   Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is consumed. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

  (ii) The Group as lessee

   Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income and expenditure 
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed.

 (e) Property, Plant and Equipment

  All land and buildings owned by the HDB on 1 April 1985 were valued at that date for 
the purpose of creating asset accounts arising from a change in accounting policy. A second 
valuation was conducted for commercial and industrial properties on 31 March 1986. Additional 
information on the valuation of properties is made in Note 5(d). The valuation of these 
properties was taken as the deemed cost of these properties and subsequently carried at 
deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

  Property, plant and equipment acquired or constructed after 1 April 1985 are carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

  When a building comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of the assets, over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

    Years

  Leasehold land 99 years or the remaining lease period

  Buildings 60 years

  Leasehold property 30 years

  Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years

  Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures 3 to 10 years

  Motor vehicles 6 years

  Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

  No depreciation is charged on freehold land, leasehold land of 999 years and artworks.

  Assets under development (which are classified as property, plant and equipment) are carried 
at cost, less any recognised impairment losses. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis 
as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (e) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

  Property, plant and equipment costing less than $2,000 each are charged to the income and 
expenditure statement in the year of purchase.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
asset and is recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

 (f) Investment Properties

  Investment properties, comprising commercial complexes, industrial properties and land, are 
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is determined on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives. The useful lives are stated in Note 2(e).

  Assets under development (which are classified as investment properties) are carried at cost, 
less any recognised impairment losses. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as 
other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of investment properties is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
asset and is recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

 (g) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, and Investment Properties

  At the end of the reporting period, property, plant and equipment, and investment properties 
are reviewed for events or changes in circumstances that may indicate that these assets are 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair 
value less cost to sell and the value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount 
of impairment loss (if any).

  Recoverable amount is determined in-house using the comparable sales method or the income 
approach based on contractual or market rents. Valuations based on income approach are 
further verified with a sampling of market valuations by a professional valuer.

  Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised as operating expenses in the income and expenditure statement unless it 
reverses a previous revaluation credited to asset revaluation reserve for that asset, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to asset revaluation reserve.

  Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication 
that the impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased. The 
reversal is recorded in the income and expenditure statement unless the asset is carried at 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. However, the 
increased carrying amount of the asset due to a reversal of impairment losses is recognised 
to the extent it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, had 
no impairment losses been recognised for that asset in prior years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (h) Properties under Development

  Properties under development include properties for sale under development and cost of 
upgrading sold properties.

  The cost of properties under development includes acquisition costs, borrowing costs and other 
related development expenditure. Financial expenses are capitalised until the completion of 
development.

  Properties for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.

  Development of flats for sale is expected to incur a loss on sale. Provision for foreseeable 
loss is determined as the difference between estimated development costs and net realisable 
value, and charged to the income and expenditure statement. The net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price (net of Additional CPF Housing Grant and Special CPF Housing Grant 
[Note 2(r)]) in the ordinary course of business. The provision is transferred to the properties 
for sale on completion and released when the flat is sold.

 (i) Properties for Sale

  Properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Selling price 
and cost are on specific identification. The net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
(net of Additional CPF Housing Grant and Special CPF Housing Grant [Note 2(r)]) in the 
ordinary course of business.

  Foreseeable loss for flats developed or acquired is provided for the difference between the 
cost and net realisable value, and charged to the income and expenditure statement. The 
provision for foreseeable loss is released on sale of the flat.

 (j) Inventories of Building Materials

  Inventories of building materials are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price.

 (k) Government Grant

  The HDB’s deficit is fully covered by government grant. In addition, a grant is given to 
the HDB so that the reserves of past governments are protected in accordance with the 
Constitution of the Republic of Singapore.

  The government grant is recognised as income on an accrual basis when conditions are met. 
The government grant is received in advance, except for the grant to finance the provision 
for foreseeable loss on properties under development/for sale and impairment allowance 
of loans receivable. The amount to finance the foreseeable loss provision and impairment 
allowance is received when the loss is realised. 

  The cumulative grants received from the Government since the establishment of the HDB 
are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements.

 (l) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (l) Provisions (continued)

  When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

 (m) Revenue Recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue 
is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

  (i) Sale Proceeds

   Proceeds (net of Additional CPF Housing Grant and Special CPF Housing Grant  
[Note 2(r)]) from sale of flats, proceeds from sale of other properties and building 
materials are recognised as income when all the following conditions are satisfied:

of the goods;

associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

to the entity; and

 
reliably.

  (ii) Interest Income

   Interest income is earned mainly from mortgage loans granted to purchasers of flats 
under public housing schemes and deferred payment scheme granted to lessees of 
upgraded flats. It is accrued on a time proportion basis, with reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

  (iii) Rental and Related Income

   Rental and related income from operating leases of rental properties are recognised 
in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 2(d)(i) to the financial statements.

  (iv) Car Park Income

   Season parking fees and licence fees of car parks managed by service providers are 
recognised on an accrual basis. Parking coupon income is recognised upon the sale of 
coupons. Parking fines and other charges are recognised upon receipt of payments.

  (v) Recoveries

   Recoveries from the lessees and Town Councils for their share of the upgrading cost 
are recognised as income upon completion of the upgrading works.

  (vi) Agency and Consultancy Fees

   Agency fees from agency projects and consultancy fees are recognised as income when 
services are rendered.

  (vii) Dividend Income

   Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is 
established.

 (n) Financial Expenses

  (i) Housing Development Loans, Bank Loans and Bonds

   The HDB’s development programmes and operational requirements are financed 
by housing development loans from the Government, bank loans and bonds issued  
[Note 2(c)(ii)]. Financial expenses, comprising interest incurred on the loans and bonds, 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (n) Financial Expenses (continued)

  (i) Housing Development Loans, Bank Loans and Bonds (continued)

   are accrued based on the effective interest rates and recognised in the income and 
expenditure statement, except to the extent that they are capitalised based on an average 
capitalisation rate during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use.

  (ii) Mortgage and Upgrading Financing Loans

   The HDB provides financing schemes to purchasers of flats under public housing schemes 
and lessees of upgraded flats. The schemes are financed by mortgage and upgrading 
financing loans from the Government. Interest expenses are charged to the income and 
expenditure statement in the period in which they are incurred.

 (o) Defined Contribution Plans: Singapore Central Provident Fund (CPF) Contributions

  Contributions on the Group’s employees’ salaries are made to the CPF as required by law.  
The CPF contributions are recognised in the income and expenditure statement in the period 
when the employees rendered their services entitling them to the contributions. The Group 
has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

 (p) Employee Leave Entitlement

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

 (q) Income Tax

  The HDB is exempt from tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act (Cap. 134, 2008 
Revised Edition).

  Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax of the 
subsidiaries of the HDB.

  The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit of the subsidiaries for the year. Taxable 
profit differs from profit as reported in the income and expenditure statement because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax 
is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

  Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments 
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 (q) Income Tax (continued)

  Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the income and 
expenditure statement, except when it relates to items recognised outside the income and 
expenditure statement (either in the statement of comprehensive income or directly in equity), 
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised outside the income and expenditure statement 
(either in the statement of comprehensive income or directly in equity), respectively.

 (r) CPF Housing Grant

  Under the CPF Housing Grant scheme, grants are disbursed to eligible households for 
purchase of flats in accordance with the approved housing policy.

  The Additional CPF Housing Grant and Special CPF Housing Grant [Note 2(m)(i)] disbursed 
to eligible households for the purchase of flats from HDB are recognised as trade and other 
receivables on disbursement, and netted off against the sale proceeds on sale of the flat.

  The other CPF Housing Grants are recognised as expenses on disbursement to eligible 
households and reported as other expenses in the income and expenditure statement.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management 
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected.

 Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements involved that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements apart from those involving estimates, 
which are dealt with below.

 (a) Estimation for Allowance for Impairment Losses for Loans Receivable

  In the assessment of impairment losses for loans receivable, the Group considers the average 
resale price of flats in the same location and of similar flat type, the duration of the loan in 
arrears and the total outstanding loans receivable.

  Management is of the opinion that adequate impairment losses, as disclosed in Note 8 to the 
financial statements, have been made.

  The carrying amount of the Group’s loans receivable is disclosed in Note 8 to the financial 
statements.

 (b) Estimation for Impairment Losses for Property, Plant and Equipment, and Investment Properties

  At the end of each reporting period, management assesses whether there is any indication that 
property, plant and equipment and investment properties have suffered an impairment loss.

  In the assessment of the impairment loss, the Group estimates the fair value less cost to sell 
of the properties and the future cash flows, with an appropriate discount rate to calculate 
the present value of the cash flows.

  Management is of the opinion that adequate impairment losses, as disclosed in Notes 6 and 
7 to the financial statements, have been made.

  The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, and investment properties 
are disclosed in Notes 6 and 7 to the financial statements respectively.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

 (c) Foreseeable Losses relating to Properties under Development

  Estimated selling price (net of Additional CPF Housing Grant and Special CPF Housing 
Grant) [Note 2(m)(i)] of the location, design and the estimated contract sum of the project 
are used to determine the foreseeable loss relating to properties under development.

  The carrying amount of properties under development is disclosed in Note 12 to the financial 
statements.

 (d) Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

  As described in Note 2(e), the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. Based on management’s assessment 
as at the year end, the useful lives of property, plant and equipment remain appropriate.

4. FINANCIAL RISKS AND MANAGEMENT

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of risks as follows:

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Group HDB

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Held-to-maturity debt
 securities 1,002 1,002 0 0

Loans and receivables 
(including cash and 
bank balances) (1) 40,396,164 42,618,058 40,315,447 42,522,961

Available-for-sale securities 36,284 36,016 0 0

(1) Excludes prepayments.

Financial Liabilities
 (at amortised cost)

Loans payable 56,961,970 55,010,687 56,965,970 55,010,687

Payables (including
 amount due to subsidiary) (2) 1,208,548 1,405,807 1,186,058 1,372,275

(2) Excludes downpayment deposits and advances, deferred income and provisions.



28

APPENDIX

4. FINANCIAL RISKS AND MANAGEMENT (continued)

 (b) The following sets out the Group’s overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy.
The Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects of financial performance of the Group.

  (i) Credit risk

   The Group’s loans receivable comprise largely mortgage loans to purchasers of flats 
under the public housing schemes. Policies on loan quantum and credit assessment 
are in place for the granting of mortgage loans to flat buyers and the flats are held 
as collateral. An allowance for impairment is made in respect of non-performing 
loans receivable from flats buyers where the collateral held is insufficient to discharge 
the total loans receivable. The allowance represents the aggregate amount by which 
management considers it necessary to write down its loans receivable in order to state 
it in the balance sheet at its estimated recoverable value.

   Although the Group’s credit exposure is concentrated mainly in Singapore, it has no 
significant concentration of credit risk with any single loan recipient or group of loan 
recipients.

   The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed 
up for any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking into account the value of any collateral obtained.

   Further details of credit risks on loans receivable and other receivables are disclosed 
in Notes 8 and 15 to the financial statements respectively.

  (ii) Interest rate risk

   The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rate relates primarily to  
the mortgage and upgrading financing loans payable and loans receivable both of which 
are pegged to the CPF rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by largely 
matching the terms of the mortgage and upgrading financing loans payable with those  
of the loans receivable. The Group also borrows housing development loans from  
the Government for its development programmes and operational requirements. The 
housing development loans are based on a variable interest rate, which is pegged to  
the prevailing DBS Bank Ltd’s board rate for housing loans. There was no movement 
in the variable interest rate since the borrowing of the housing development loans in 
2008/2009. However, if the variable interest rate were to increase/decrease by 0.5% 
(2011/2012 : 0.5%) at the end of the reporting period with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s net deficit before government grant and taxation will be higher/
lower by $5.1 million (2011/2012 : $5.3 million) respectively.

   In addition to government loans, the Group also accesses the capital market and 
financial institutions for its funding requirements as and when required. The bank loans 
are unsecured, borrowed at fixed interest rates and short-term in nature. Information 
relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed in the respective notes to 
the financial statements.

  (iii) Foreign currency exchange risk

   The Group has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange risk as its operations 
are substantially transacted in Singapore dollars.

   All financial assets and liabilities reported on the balance sheets are denominated in 
Singapore dollars.

  (iv) Equity price risk

   The Group is not exposed to significant equity risks arising from equity investments 
classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale equity investments are held for strategic 
rather than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale 
investments. Any reasonably possible changes in prices of available-for-sale investments 
are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s capital and reserves. 

   Further details of these equity investments can be found in Note 10 to the financial 
statements.
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4. FINANCIAL RISKS AND MANAGEMENT (continued)

  (v) Liquidity risk

   The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 
to finance its operations. Funding is also made available through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities. The MOF will act as the lender of last resort to HDB for its 
funding requirements.

   Financial liabilities

   The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group and HDB can be required to pay. The 
adjustment column represents the interest payments which are not included in the carrying 
amount of the financial liability on the balance sheets.

On demand
or within
 1 year

Within
2 to

5 years
After

5 years Adjustment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 March 2013

Loans payable 8,730,377 28,133,205 28,439,431 (8,341,043) 56,961,970

Payables(1) 1,208,548 0 0 0 1,208,548

31 March 2012

Loans payable 9,586,497 25,252,418 28,611,016 (8,439,244) 55,010,687

Payables(1) 1,405,807 0 0 0 1,405,807

HDB

31 March 2013

Loans payable 8,730,377 28,135,205 28,441,431 (8,341,043) 56,965,970

Payables (including
 amount due to
 subsidiary) (1) 1,186,058 0 0 0 1,186,058

31 March 2012

Loans payable 9,586,497 25,252,418 28,611,016 (8,439,244) 55,010,687

Payables (including
 amount due to
 subsidiary) (1) 1,372,275 0 0 0 1,372,275

(1) Excludes downpayment deposits and advances, deferred income and provisions.
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4. FINANCIAL RISKS AND MANAGEMENT (continued)

  (vi) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

   The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables, 
payables and other current liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of loans 
receivable, loans payable, held-to-maturity debt securities and available-for-sale equity 
securities are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements.

   The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

 The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy 
has the following levels: 

 (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

 (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices) (Level 2); and 

 (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

 Financial instruments measured at fair value:

Group

Total Level 1

$’000 $’000

31 March 2013

Available-for-sale investments 36,284 36,284

31 March 2012

Available-for-sale investments 36,016 36,016

 There were no significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during 
the financial year.

  (vii) Capital risk management policies and objectives

   As a statutory board, the HDB’s primary mission is to achieve the Government’s social 
objectives. The HDB’s development programmes and operational requirements are 
financed by housing development loans from the Government, bank loans and bonds 
issued. In addition, the MOF will act as the lender of last resort to the HDB for its 
funding requirements.

   The HDB’s deficit is financed by government grant. A grant is also given to the HDB 
to protect the reserves of past governments in accordance with the Constitution of the 
Republic of Singapore. The HDB’s mission and financing arrangement with the MOF 
remains unchanged from the last financial year.
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5. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

 (a) Share Capital

  Under the MOF’s Capital Management Framework for Statutory Boards (Finance Circular 
Minute No. M26/2008), the HDB received $1,000 equity contribution in 2008/2009 from the 
Minister for Finance, the body incorporated by the Minister for Finance (Incorporation) Act.

 (b) Capital Account

  The capital account represents:

  (i) the effects of identification and valuation of all properties and changes in accounting when 
the HDB adopted the present conventional accounting system on 1 April 1985; and

  (ii) the premium on the sale of land under the previous accounting system.

 (c) Capital Gains Reserve

  Under the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore, reserves of the HDB which were not 
accumulated during the current term of office of the Government cannot be drawn on without 
the approval of the President. The capital gains reserve relates to capital gains attributable 
to past governments on disposal of assets held at the changeover date of the Government.

  For properties returned to the Government under Article 22B(9) of the Constitution, an 
amount equivalent to the net book value of the properties is charged to the capital gains 
reserve.

 (d) Asset Revaluation Reserve

  The previous accounting system did not maintain individual asset accounts and the HDB was 
unable to identify the historical cost of each asset. When the HDB first adopted the present 
conventional accounting system in 1985, all properties owned by the HDB on 1 April 1985 
were valued at that date for the purpose of creating asset accounts arising from a change in 
accounting policy. The bases of valuation were:

  (i) Land and buildings of residential properties together with ancillary facilities such as car 
parks, markets and hawker centres were valued at replacement cost less depreciation 
since the date of completion of construction; and

  (ii) Land and buildings for commercial and industrial properties were valued at open market 
values.

   The HDB conducted a second valuation for the commercial and industrial properties on 
31 March 1986. The valuations were conducted by its in-house valuers. The surplus over 
the estimated historical cost of the properties which could be reasonably identified is 
carried forward as the asset revaluation reserve. On 1 April 2005, the asset revaluation 
reserve in respect of investment properties was reclassified to capital gains reserve.

   The balance in the asset revaluation reserve is released directly to retained earnings 
upon disposal of the other properties.

   When properties which were previously carried at revalued amounts are impaired, the 
impairment loss would be charged to the asset revaluation reserve unless the balance in 
the asset revaluation reserve is insufficient to cover the loss, in which case the amount 
by which the loss exceeds the amount in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the 
same class of assets is charged to the income and expenditure statement.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Land and buildings include markets and hawker centres which are managed by the National 
Environment Agency (“NEA”). Under the agreement to manage and maintain the markets 
and hawker centres, the NEA shall retain the rental collected, bear the operating expenses and 
reimburse HDB for the holding costs of these properties. The net book value of these markets 
and hawker centres was $403 million (2011/2012 : $412 million).

 The reversal of impairment losses in respect of certain commercial properties are recognised 
based on the estimated recoverable values, taking into account the recent tenders and market 
comparables for these properties.

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group HDB

$’000 $’000

Cost

 At 1 April 2011 6,730,795 6,711,668

 Additions 20,547 20,547

 Transfer to property, plant and equipment (2,422) (2,422)

 At 31 March 2012 6,748,920 6,729,793

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

 At 1 April 2011 2,056,278 2,053,411

 Depreciation 80,202 79,947

 Transfer to property, plant and equipment (567) (567)

 Reversal of impairment losses (171,719) (171,719)

 At 31 March 2012 1,964,194 1,961,072

Carrying amount

 At 31 March 2012 4,784,726 4,768,721

Fair value

 At 31 March 2012 14,234,317 14,202,137
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Group HDB

$’000 $’000

Cost

 At 1 April 2012 6,748,920 6,729,793

 Additions 46,718 46,718

 Disposals/Write-off (35,987) (35,987)

 Transfer to property, plant and equipment (21,668) (21,668)

 At 31 March 2013 6,737,983 6,718,856

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

 At 1 April 2012 1,964,194 1,961,072

 Depreciation 81,828 81,573

 Disposals/Write-off (6,578) (6,578)

 Transfer to property, plant and equipment (4,430) (4,430)

 Reversal of impairment losses (142,263) (142,263)

 At 31 March 2013 1,892,751 1,889,374

Carrying amount

 At 31 March 2013 4,845,232 4,829,482

Fair value

 At 31 March 2013 15,299,574 15,265,944

 The fair value of the investment properties, which are leasehold in nature, is determined based 
on the comparable sales method or the income approach as stated in Note 2(g) to the financial 
statements.

 The property rental income from the Group’s investment properties all of which are leased out 
under operating leases, amounted to $581 million (2011/2012 : $527 million). Direct operating 
expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental-generating investment properties 
amounted to $321 million (2011/2012 : $261 million).

 The reversal of impairment losses are recognised to reflect the estimated recoverable amount based 
on the prevailing market conditions.
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8. LOANS RECEIVABLE

Group HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Loans receivable

 Mortgage loans for flats 38,089,299 40,365,066 38,089,299 40,365,066

 Late payment charges for
 mortgage loans 31,465 33,224 31,465 33,224

 Staff loans 85 54 0 0

38,120,849 40,398,344 38,120,764 40,398,290

Deferred receivable

 Upgrading costs due from
 lessees 90,319 92,210 90,319 92,210

38,211,168 40,490,554 38,211,083 40,490,500

Less:

 Allowance for impairment
 losses (79,856) (87,536) (79,856) (87,536)

Balance as at 31 March 38,131,312 40,403,018 38,131,227 40,402,964

Represented by amount
 receivable:
 Within 1 year 2,447,166 2,597,421 2,447,081 2,597,367

 Later than 1 year but not 
more than 2 years 2,131,787 2,196,673 2,131,787 2,196,673

 Later than 2 years but not
 more than 5 years 6,407,590 6,619,004 6,407,590 6,619,004

 Later than 5 years 27,144,769 28,989,920 27,144,769 28,989,920

35,684,146 37,805,597 35,684,146 37,805,597

38,131,312 40,403,018 38,131,227 40,402,964

 The mortgage loans are granted to the buyers of flats under the public housing schemes (Note 
17) with the flats held as collateral. The carrying amounts of loans receivable approximate their 
fair values.

 The loans receivable and deferred receivable are denominated in Singapore dollars.
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8. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

 The movements in allowance for impairment losses on loans receivable for the Group are as follows:

Group and HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 87,536 94,673

Allowance for impairment losses 717 355

Bad debts written off against allowance (8,397) (7,492)

Balance as at 31 March 79,856 87,536

 Interest rates and repayment terms on the loans are:

Interest rate

(per annum)

Repayment term

Mortgage loans granted to lessees for
 purchase of flats under public housing
 schemes

2.60% to 3.82%
(2011/2012 : 2.60% to 3.82%)

Up to 30 years

Loans granted to staff 4.25%
(2011/2012 : 4.25%)

Up to 7 years

Upgrading costs due from flat lessees 2.60% to 3.82%
(2011/2012 : 2.60% to 3.82%)

Up to 25 years

Upgrading costs due from shop lessees 5% to 6.75%
(2011/2012 : 5% to 6.75%)

Up to 5 years

 The loans are collected through monthly instalment payments from the loan recipients. Instalment 
payments are due on the 1st day of every month. Late payment charges will be imposed based 
on the outstanding balance as at the end of each month, in accordance with the Housing and 
Development (Penalties for Late Payment) Rules and the Housing and Development (Interest 
and Penalties for Late Payment of Improvement Contribution) Rules.

 A credit assessment based on objective criteria is carried out for loans granted. The loans are secured 
by the flats that are sold. Loans that are past due but not impaired as at the year end amounted 
to $6,765 million (2011/2012 : $7,430 million). No allowance for impairment losses has been made 
on these loans receivable, as the market value of the collateral is higher than the loans receivable.  
The average age of these loans receivable is 6.9 months (2011/2012 : 7.2 months).

 In determining the recoverability of the loans receivable, the HDB considers any change in credit 
quality of the loan, the duration of the loan in arrears and the market value of the collateral as at 
the reporting date. Accordingly, an allowance of $80 million (2011/2012 : $88 million) representing 
0.21% (2011/2012 : 0.22%) of the total loans receivable had been made. Management is of the 
opinion that adequate impairment losses have been made.
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9. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Subsidiary

E M Services Pte Ltd (a) (unquoted equity shares at cost) 1,500 1,500

Principal activities
Country of

incorporation
Percentage of equity
 held by the Group

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

% %

Subsidiary of the HDB

E M Services Pte Ltd (a) Property management 
and engineering services

Singapore 75 75

Subsidiaries of E M Services
 Pte Ltd

E M Property Management
 Pte Ltd (a)

Property management Singapore 100 100

Property Inc. Pte Ltd (a) Real estate agency Singapore 100 100
(a)Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP.

10. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Non-current investments:

 Held-to-maturity debt securities, at amortised cost 1,002 1,002

 Available-for-sale equity securities (quoted), at fair value 25,067 36,016

 Available-for-sale debt securities (quoted), at fair value 11,217 0

37,286 37,018

Fair value of held-to-maturity debt securities 1,002 1,002

 The fair value of investments in quoted available-for-sale investments is based on the quoted 
closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year.

 Held-to-maturity debt securities have average effective interest rates of 6% (2011/2012 : 6%) per 
annum and mature in 2049.

 The held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments are denominated in Singapore dollars.
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11. INCOME TAX

 (a) Income tax expense

Group

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Current taxation:

— Current year 4,206 5,900

— Overprovision in respect of prior years (586) (108)

3,620 5,792

Deferred taxation (87) (213)

Total income tax expense 3,533 5,579

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Net surplus before taxation 254,642 319,439

Less:

Net surplus of HDB excluding intra-group transactions (233,546) (297,144)

Net surplus subject to taxation 21,096 22,295

Tax at statutory rate of 17% (2011/2012 : 17%) 3,586 3,790

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 982 1,964

Exempt income (76) (61)

Tax concession and rebates (373) (6)

Overprovision in respect of prior years (586) (108)

3,533 5,579

 (b) Movements in provision for income tax

Group

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 5,900 4,511

Charge for the year 4,206 5,900

Payments made during the year (5,312) (4,403) 

Overprovision in respect of prior years (586) (108)

Balance as at 31 March 4,208 5,900
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11. INCOME TAX (continued)

 (c) Deferred tax

  The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the Group during the year are as 
follows:

At
1 April
 2011

Credited to
Income and
Expenditure
 Statement

At
31 March

 2012

Credited/
(Charged) to
Income and
Expenditure
 Statement

At
31 March

 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets

Property, plant and equipment 178 (277) (99) (109) (208)

Total 178 (277) (99) (109) (208)

Provisions 2,150 490 2,640 196 2,836

Total 2,150 490 2,640 196 2,836

Net deferred tax assets 2,328 213 2,541 87 2,628

12. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Group and HDB

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

$’000 $’000

Land 10,602,648 6,649,023

Buildings 3,361,937 2,214,890

Upgrading works 125,416 147,375

14,090,001 9,011,288

Less:

Provision for foreseeable loss [Note 2(h)] (1,638,401) (1,240,052)

Balance as at 31 March 12,451,600 7,771,236

13. PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Group and HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000

Cost of properties 1,333,363 1,988,667

Less:

Provision for foreseeable loss [Note 2(i)] (120,144) (268,750)

Balance as at 31 March 1,213,219 1,719,917
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14. GOVERNMENT GRANT RECEIVABLE

Group and HDB

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

$’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 929,758 1,834,518

Less:

Amount received (961,600) (1,651,365)

(31,842) 183,153

Transfer from income and expenditure statement 1,042,913 746,605

Balance as at 31 March 1,011,071 929,758

 The amount transferred from income and expenditure statement is the deficit to be financed by 
the Government under the existing financing arrangement [Note 2(k)].

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 1,069,271 1,136,634 1,050,359 1,113,394

Less:

Allowance for impairment losses (11,617) (12,686) (10,616) (11,485)

1,057,654 1,123,948 1,039,743 1,101,909

Other receivables 53,836 48,223 51,851 42,230

Less:

Allowance for impairment losses (26) (26) (26) (26)

53,810 48,197 51,825 42,204

Prepayments 12,963 12,350 5,010 9,118

Deposits 603 602 410 366

Balance as at 31 March 1,125,030 1,185,097 1,096,988 1,153,597

 Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance is the Additional CPF Housing Grant and 
Special CPF Housing Grant of $587 million (2011/2012 : $439 million) that had been disbursed 
to eligible households for the purchase of flats from HDB. The Additional/Special CPF Housing 
Grant disbursed in the current year amounted to $252 million (2011/2012 : $255 million). The 
amount disbursed will be netted off against the sale proceeds on sale of the flat [Notes 2(m)(i) 
& 2(r)].

 Also included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of  
$36 million (2011/2012 : $50 million) which are past due as at the reporting date but no allowance 
for impairment losses is made, as there has not been a significant change in credit quality. The 
average age of these receivables is 3.6 months (2011/2012 : 2.7 months). The Group does not 
hold any collateral over these balances.
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the 
credit quality of the trade receivable as at the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is 
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, management believes 
that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for impairment losses.

 The movements in allowance for impairment losses on trade and other receivables for the Group 
and HDB are as follows:

Group HDB

31 March
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 12,712 11,984 11,511 11,620

Allowance for impairment 
 losses 4,258 3,928 3,507 3,091

Bad debts written off against
 allowance (5,327) (3,200) (4,376) (3,200)

Balance as at 31 March 11,643 12,712 10,642 11,511

16. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group HDB

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 98,392 58,733 78,673 43,276

Fixed deposits 43,322 53,802 2,498 2,484

Balance as at 31 March 141,714 112,535 81,171 45,760

Less:

Funds held in trust (14,851) (15,196) (14,167) (14,183)

Cash and cash equivalents
 as at 31 March 126,863 97,339 67,004 31,577

 Amount held in trust comprises mainly monies maintained by the Group with financial institutions 
on behalf of its principal for agency projects, fixed deposits placed on behalf of Club HDB, funds 
held for management of joint research projects and funds held for management of properties.

 Cash and bank balances comprise cash and short-term bank deposits held by the Group, 
which includes bank balances held by Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) under the 
Government’s Centralised Liquidity Management Framework for Statutory Boards. The carrying 
amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

 Fixed deposits, excluding those held in trust at the financial year end, bear average effective 
interest of 0.27% (2011/2012 : 0.21%) per annum and for a tenure from 1 to 6 months  
(2011/2012 : 1 to 6 months).
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17. LOANS PAYABLE

Group HDB

31 March
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Government loans

 Housing development loans 1,015,491 1,065,497 1,015,491 1,065,497

 Mortgage financing loans 38,372,538 40,607,067 38,372,538 40,607,067

 Upgrading financing loans 67,421 73,225 67,421 73,225

Bonds 39,455,450 41,745,789 39,455,450 41,745,789

 Principal 14,386,000 9,245,000 14,390,000 9,245,000

 Unamortised transaction cost (27,323) (9,371) (27,323) (9,371)

14,358,677 9,235,629 14,362,677 9,235,629

Bank loans (unsecured) 2,954,000 3,844,500 2,954,000 3,844,500

56,768,127 54,825,918 56,772,127 54,825,918

Interest payable 193,843 184,769 193,843 184,769

Balance as at 31 March 56,961,970 55,010,687 56,965,970 55,010,687

Represented by amount payable:

 Within 1 year 7,439,234 8,301,367 7,439,234 8,301,367

 Later than 1 year but not more 
  than 2 years 5,002,669 5,102,815 5,002,669 5,102,815

 Later than 2 years but not more
  than 5 years 19,109,919 16,282,658 19,111,919 16,282,658

 Later than 5 years 25,410,148 25,323,847 25,412,148 25,323,847

49,522,736 46,709,320 49,526,736 46,709,320

56,961,970 55,010,687 56,965,970 55,010,687

Fair value of bonds 14,792,829 9,608,794 14,796,953 9,608,794

 Under the Agreements for Loan Facility with the Government, mortgage and upgrading financing 
loans are obtained from the Government to finance loans granted to eligible purchasers of flats 
under the public housing schemes at interest rates that are in accordance with prevailing mortgage 
financing policy and upgrading programmes of the Government.

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices 
at the end of the reporting period. The indicative ask price is used for the bonds issued by the 
Group.

 The carrying amounts of government loans and bank loans approximate their fair values.

 The loans and bonds are denominated in Singapore dollars.

 The average effective interest rates paid and repayment terms on the loans are:
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17. LOANS PAYABLE (continued)

Interest rate
(per annum)

Repayment term

Housing development loans 4.50%
(2011/2012 : 4.50%)

20 years

Mortgage financing loans 2.50% to 3.28%
(2011/2012 : 2.50% to 3.61%)

Up to 30 years

Upgrading financing loans 2.50%
(2011/2012 : 2.50%)

10 years

Bank loans (unsecured) 0.40% to 0.54%
(2011/2012 : 0.60% to 0.80%)

Within 1 year

 Bonds are issued to finance the HDB’s development programmes and working capital requirements. 
The bonds are as follows:

Series
number Principal

Coupon
rate(%)

Effective
interest rate(%) Tenure Maturity

$M (per annum) (per annum)

008 250 3.560 3.560 10 years 23 February 2014

010 500 3.375 3.375 10 years 21 April 2015

012 100 3.200 3.200 10 years 12 October 2015

014 100 3.730 3.730 10 years 7 March 2016

016 100 3.995 3.995 10 years 14 July 2016

018 250 3.622 3.622 10 years 18 October 2016

020 250 3.550 3.550 10 years 14 February 2017

022 150 3.350 3.350 12 years 11 June 2019

024 300 3.630 3.630 15 years 27 February 2023

025 300 3.455 3.455 5 years 15 July 2013

026 300 3.950 3.950 10 years 15 July 2018

029 400 1.870 1.870 5 years 25 March 2015

030 500 1.150 1.167 3 years 8 July 2013

032 465 2.000 2.023 7 years 3 November 2017

033 320 2.0225 2.044 5 years 22 February 2016

034 500 3.140 3.162 10 years 18 March 2021

035 350 1.685 1.716 5 years 8 June 2016

036 400 1.005 1.015 3 years 1 August 2014

037 600 2.815 2.871 10 years 26 July 2021

038 625 1.010 1.051 5 years 19 September 2016

039 650 1.950 1.983 10 years 22 September 2021

040 600 1.830 1.851 7 years 21 November 2018

041 385 1.105 1.136 5 years 16 February 2017

042 360 1.165 1.186 5 years 24 April 2017

043 800 2.185 2.207 10 years 25 April 2022
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Series
number Principal

Coupon
rate(%)

Effective
interest rate(%) Tenure Maturity

$M (per annum) (per annum)

044 500 1.520 1.573 7 years 18 June 2019

045 585 2.505 2.558 12 years 27 June 2024

046 450 1.110 1.203 5 years 30 August 2017

047 500 2.088 2.155 10 years 30 August 2022

048 600 0.760 0.811 3 years 2 November 2015

049 1,200 1.230 1.3129 5 years 30 January 2018

051 1,000 0.943 1.045 3 years 21 March 2016

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 1,084,189 977,550 1,061,197 942,858

Downpayment deposits 
 and advances 1,489,861 864,416 1,489,861 864,416

Other deposits 124,359 428,257 124,359 428,257

Deferred income 
 (Note 19) 111,891 106,930 111,891 106,930

Provisions 20,010 20,003 20,010 20,003

2,830,310 2,397,156 2,807,318 2,362,464

 Provision was mainly made for restoration works for a former quarry site, pending firm 
development plan of the agency taking over the site.

 The movements in provisions for the Group and HDB are:

Group HDB

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 20,003 20,003 20,003 20,003

Provisions for the year 7 0 7 0

Balance as at 31 March 20,010 20,003 20,010 20,003

17. LOANS PAYABLE (continued)
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19. DEFERRED INCOME

Group and HDB

31 March
2013

31 March
2012

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year (Note 18) 111,891 106,930

After 1 year but within 5 years 226,986 213,140

After 5 years 654,654 616,224

881,640 829,364

993,531 936,294

 Deferred income relates principally to amount received in advance in respect of operating leases 
of land, commercial properties, industrial properties and flats [Note 2(d)].

20. INCOME

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest income 1,058,006 1,128,120 1,057,863 1,127,954

Rental and related income 1,092,644 1,057,242 1,051,849 1,004,870

Car park income 568,688 545,812 569,236 546,363

Recoveries for upgrading and
 others 101,471 95,742 101,471 95,742

Levy on resale flats and sales
 premium 42,491 32,284 42,491 32,284

Agency and consultancy fees 106,666 101,295 31,915 28,206

Gain on disposal of assets 10,099 2,605 10,092 2,611

Investment income 2,091 1,908 12,000 6,000

Fees and other income 84,190 75,528 83,705 75,386

3,066,346 3,040,536 2,960,622 2,919,416

 Investment income includes dividend income as follows:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividend from:

— Unquoted subsidiary 0 0 12,000 6,000

— Others 2,091 1,908 0 0
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21. FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest expense from:

— Government loans 1,068,288 1,142,158 1,068,288 1,142,158

— Bank loans 14,191 34,920 14,191 34,920

— Bonds 255,381 202,142 255,401 202,142

1,337,860 1,379,220 1,337,880 1,379,220

Less:

Interest capitalised in assets and 
 properties under development
 (Notes 6, 7 and 12) (131,293) (102,540) (131,293) (102,540)

Bond transaction cost amortisation 2,642 881 2,642 881

1,209,209 1,277,561 1,209,229 1,277,561

 During the financial year, interest capitalised as properties and assets under development  
amounted to $131 million (2011/2012 : $103 million) at an average capitalisation rate of 2.06% 
(2011/2012 : 2.21%).

22. EXPENSES BY NATURE

 Expenses include the following:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Provision for foreseeable loss for 
 properties under development/
 for sale 752,848 343,932 752,848 343,932

Release of foreseeable loss provided 
 in previous years, upon sale (503,105) (983,286) (503,105) (983,286)

Net increase/(decrease)
 in provision for foreseeable loss 249,743 (639,354) 249,743 (639,354)

Upgrading 637,301 651,861 642,860 689,506

Improvements and demolition 127,523 90,583 127,523 90,583

Depreciation 350,805 344,511 345,655 335,761

Property tax 133,534 130,905 133,446 130,818

Reversal of impairment losses on
 property, plant and equipment,
 and investment properties (142,677) (172,559) (142,677) (172,559)

Allowance for impairment losses on 
 loans receivable and debtors 4,975 4,283 4,224 3,446

Impairment loss on available-for-sale
 investment 0 1,566 0 0
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Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bad debts written off 1,194 611 334 102

Operating lease expenses 28,527 23,149 13,834 7,063

Manpower costs 548,352 501,582 484,338 443,675

Manpower costs and overheads
 capitalised in:
 — properties and assets under
     development (27,671) (18,659) (27,671) (18,659)

 — inventories of building materials (1,220) (1,650) (1,220) (1,650)

CPF Housing Grant [Note 2(r)] 177,718 234,800 177,718 234,800

23. MANPOWER COSTS

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Salaries and bonuses 472,803 435,376 417,872 384,933

Contribution to CPF 56,109 47,891 47,866 41,358

Staff benefits 9,535 9,172 8,981 8,520

Training/development costs and others 9,905 9,143 9,619 8,864

548,352 501,582 484,338 443,675

24. GOVERNMENT GRANT

 Cumulative grant from the Government since the establishment of the HDB in 1960 amounts to:

HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000

Total grant as at 1 April 21,331,856 20,585,251

Grant for the financial year (Note 14) 1,042,913 746,605

Total grant as at 31 March 22,374,769 21,331,856

22. EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)
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25. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Some of HDB’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on 
the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances 
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 The Group had the following significant transactions with its supervisory Ministry, MND, and 
other related parties during the year:

Group and HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000

(i) HDB’s transactions with:

 Subsidiaries

   Property management (4,275) (3,559)

   Mechanical and electrical services (16,259) (38,282)

   Rental income 3,235 9,977

 MND

   Agency fee and other income 21,044 27,259

 Singapore Land Authority, as an agent for Ministry of Law

   Purchase of land (4,988,407) (4,017,249)

   Proceeds from return of land, flats and other properties
    to Government 40,926 47,272

   Agency fees and other income 14,049 11,268

   Temporary occupation licence fees (4,044) (4,033)

 National Environment Agency

   Recoveries 13,601 14,338

 Council for Estate Agencies

   Consultancy and support services fees 769 706

 Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore

   Agency fee income 3,415 4,889

 Land Transport Authority

   Agency fee income 1,449 0

 Other Ministries and Statutory Boards

   Rental income and others 1,803 1,480

 Town Councils

   Operating fee for car park maintenance expenses and others (68,964) (53,249)

(ii) Subsidiaries’ transactions with:

Ministries, Town Councils and Statutory Boards

Estate management agency fee income 76,996 68,786

Amounts due to related parties as at 31 March 39,412 41,044

Amounts due from related parties as at 31 March 82,123 88,330

The outstanding amounts are unsecured. There are no guarantees provided or received in 
respect of the related party balances. For 2012/2013, the Group had not made any allowance for 
impairment relating to amounts owed by related parties (2011/2012 : $Nil).
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25. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iii) Board Member and Key Management Personnel Remuneration

The remuneration of Board Members/Directors and key management personnel during the 
year were as follows:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Board Members’ and
 directors’ fees 306 201 203 191

Salaries and other short-
 term employee benefits 6,640 6,799 6,141 6,292

Contribution to CPF 202 185 192 175

7,148 7,185 6,536 6,658

26. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 BUSINESS SEGMENTS

 The Group operates predominantly in Singapore, and therefore the revenues are generated 
mainly from the operations in Singapore and the assets are located principally in Singapore. The 
accounting policy of the reporting segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policy as 
disclosed in Note 2.

 The Group’s results are presented under seven business segments in respect of the Group’s main 
activities and the government programmes implemented:

 Home Ownership Segment

 The Home Ownership segment focuses on providing home ownership flats to eligible purchasers 
of flats under the various home ownership schemes for public housing.

 Upgrading Segment

 The Upgrading segment focuses on the upgrading programmes to renew and rejuvenate the older 
housing estates.

 Residential Ancillary Functions Segment

 The Residential Ancillary Functions segment focuses on implementing housing policies, managing 
ancillary facilities such as car parks in housing estates, and planning and building administration.

 Rental Flats Segment

 The Rental Flats segment focuses on providing rental flats to eligible tenants under the various 
rental housing schemes.

 Mortgage Financing Segment

 The Mortgage Financing segment focuses on providing housing loans to eligible purchasers of 
flats under the various public housing schemes.

 Other Rental and Related Businesses Segment

 The Other Rental and Related Businesses segment focuses on the tenancy and management of 
commercial and industrial properties, and land owned by the HDB.

 Agency and Others Segment

 The Agency and Others segment encompasses estate management services, architectural and 
engineering consultancy services and agency projects on behalf of the Government.
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27. COMMITMENTS

 (a) Building project commitments

  The following commitments for building projects are not recognised in the financial statements:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Authorised and contracted for 6,792,572 6,155,843 6,791,242 6,153,129

Authorised but not contracted for 3,150,141 2,177,756 3,150,141 2,177,756

9,942,713 8,333,599 9,941,383 8,330,885

 (b) Operating lease arrangements — where the Group is a lessor

  The Group leases out its properties to non-related parties. The future minimum lease 
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date 
but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 159,844 185,256 150,863 148,809

After 1 year but within 5 years 288,638 263,847 287,248 256,059

After 5 years 276,173 231,725 276,173 231,725

724,655 680,828 714,284 636,593

 (c) Operating lease arrangements — where the Group is a lessee

  The Group leases equipment and properties from non-related parties. The future minimum 
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of reporting 
period but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group HDB

2012/2013 2011/2012 2012/2013 2011/2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 10,297 14,885 2,792 2,455

After 1 year but within 5 years 12,173 9,339 5,284 4,968

After 5 years 559 1,260 559 1,260

23,029 25,484 8,635 8,683
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 Housing Subsidies for SC/SPR Households

 To encourage the Singapore Permanent Resident (“SPR”) family members in such SPR/Singapore 
Citizen (“SC”) households to take up citizenship and to reinforce the privilege of citizenship, HDB 
will withhold $10,000 of the housing subsidies enjoyed by SPR/SC households when they buy a 
flat. If they buy a resale flat, a Design, Build and Sell Scheme (“DBSS”) flat, or an Executive 
Condominium (“EC”), their Housing Grant will be reduced by $10,000. If they buy a new flat, 
they will have to pay a $10,000 premium on top of HDB’s selling price. The withheld subsidy 
will be restored when the SPR member in the household obtains Singapore citizenship or when 
the couple has a SC child.

 Factors such as whether and when the SPR member in the household becomes SC or when the 
couple has a SC child are beyond HDB’s control. Given the uncertainty in timing and quantum 
of the obligation, no provision has been made in respect of this scheme.
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